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CHUONG TRINH
PAI HOI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025

g om0 AGENDA
OF THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF
SHAREHOLDERS
Hai Phong, ngay 31 thang 3 nam 2025
Hai Phong, March 31, 2025
THOI GIAN NOI DUNG
TIME CONTENTS

08h00’ - 08h30°
08:00 — 08:30

Dbon tiép cd dong; dang ky du hop; phat tai li€u;
Reception of shareholders; registration for attendance; distribution of
documents.

08h30’ - 08h45’
08:30 — 08:45

Van ngh¢ chao mung;

Opening performance;

08h45’ - 09h00°
08:45 —09:00

Chao co - Khai mac. Tuyén bd 1y do, gidi thiéu dai biéu;
Flag Ceremony — Opening. Statement of Purpose, Introduction of
Delegates;

Thong qua Noi quy dai hoi;
Approval of the Meeting Regulations;

Thong qua Béo cdo Kiém tra tu cach co dong;
Approval of the Report on Shareholder Eligibility Verification.

09h00’ - 09h15°
09:00 - 09:15

Gi6i thiéu Doan Chu tich diéu hanh dai hoi;
Introduction of the Presidium of the General Meeting;

Gioi thiéu Ban Thu ky dai hoi;
Introduction of the Secretariat of the General Meeting;

Thong qua chuong trinh dai hoi;
Approval of the agenda of the meeting.

09h15’ - 09h30°
09:15 - 09:30

Biao cao két qua hoat dong san xuat kinh doanh nim 2024 - Phuong huéng
nhiém vu va ké hoach san xuat kinh doanh nam 2025;

Report on business performance in 2024 — Orientation, tasks, and business
plan for 2025;

09h30° - 09h45°

Bao cao Kiém diém ctia Hoi dong quén tri nam 2024;

09:30 - 09:45 | Review Report of the Board of Directors for 2024;
09h45’ - 09h55° | B4o céo cua Ban Kiém soat nam 2024;

09:45 - 09:55 | Report of the Board of Supervisors in 2024;
09h55° - 10h00° | Béo cao cua Thanh vién HPQT ddc lap

09:55-10:00 | Report of the Independent Director.

10h00’ - 10h15°
10:00 - 10:15

Bau bo sung thanh vién hoi déng quén tri doc 1ap; Thanh vién BKS
Election of Additional Independent Director; Member of the Board of
Supervisors.

Trinh mién nhiém thanh vien HDQT; BKS va Bdo cdo phuong dn nhan sy
bau bo sung thanh vién Hoi dong quan tri doc ldp, thanh vién BKS nhiém
ky 2021 - 2026,

Proposal for dismissal of Board of Directors and Board of Supervisors
members, and report on personnel plan for electing additional Independent




Director and Member of the Board of Supervisors for the 2021-2026 term;

Théng qua thé 1é bau cir; bau ban kiém phiéu;

Approval of election regulations; appointment of the vote-counting
committee;

Tién hanh bau cie; kiém phiéu;

Conducting the election and vote counting;

10h15’ - 10h30°
10:15-10:30

Cac to trinh, trinh Pai hoi déng ) dong:
Proposals submitted to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders:

To trinh théng qua Bdo cdo tai chinh kiém todn nam 2024;

Proposal for approval of the audited financial statements for 2024,

To trinh lya chon cong ty kiém todn déc lap, kiém toan bdo cdo tai chinh
nam 2025;

Proposal for selecting an independent audit firm for the audit of the 2025
financial statements;

To trinh thong qua phwong an sir dung loi nhudn nam 2024,
Proposal for approval of the profit utilization plan for 2024;

To trinh thu lao cua Hoi dong quadn tri va Ban Kiém sodt,

Proposal for remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Board of
Supervisors,

To trinh 1y quyén cho Hoi dong quan tri quyét dinh dau tu;

Proposal for authorizing the Board of Directors to make Investment
Decisions.

10h30’ - 11h00°
10:30 - 11:00

Pai hoi thao luan;
General Meeting Discussion;

Biéu quyét théng qua cac ndi dung thude thim quyén dai hoi;
Voting on matters within the authority of the General Meeting;

11h00’ - 11h15°
11:00 - 11:15

Cong bd két qua bau bd sung thanh vién Hoi ddng quan tri doc 1ap, thanh
vién BKS va ra mat dai hoi;

Announcement of election results for additional Independent Director and
Member of the Board of Supervisors, and introduction to the General
Meeting;

11h15’ - 11h30°

Thong qua Nghi quyét dai hoi;

11:15-11:30 | Approval of the General Meeting Resolution;
11h30° Bé mac dai h¢i - Chao co;
11:30 Closing of the General Meeting — Flag Salute.

BAN TO CHUC PAI HOI
GENERAL MEETING ORGANIZING COMMITTEE




CONG TY CO PHAN CONG HOA XA HQI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM

TAP POAN HAPACO SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
HAPACO GROUP Poc lap - Tw do - Hanh phiic
JOINT STOCK Independence - Freedom - Happiness
COMPANY
) Hai Phong, ngay 31 thang 3 nam 2025
So: 50/NQ-HAP Hai Phong, March 31, 2025
No: 50/NQ-HAP
NOI QUY LAM VIEC
CUA PAI HOI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
WORKING REGULATIONS

OF THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

~ Noi quy nay quy dinh vé cac nguyén tég chung trong té chirc cudc hop dai hoi dong
c6 dong thuong nién nam 2025 ctiia Cong ty Co phan Tap doan HAPACO (Tap doan).

These regulations set out the general principles for organizing the 2025 annual
general meeting of shareholders of Hapaco Group Joint Stock Company (the Group).

Dai biéu ¢b dong du hop dai hoi déng cd dong c6 trach nhi¢m thuc hién theo cac quy
dinh trong ndi quy nay.

Shareholders attending the General Meeting of Shareholders are responsible for
complying with the provisions outlined in these regulations.

POI VOI BAN TO CHU'C PAI HOI
FOR THE ORGANIZING COMMITTEE OF THE GENERAL MEETING

1. Pai hoi dugc t6 chire theo quy dinh cta Luat Doanh nghiép sé 59/2020/QH14
ngdy 17/6/2020; Luat Chung khoan sé 54/2019/QH14 ngay 26/11/2019; va Diéu 1& T
chirc va Hoat dong cua Tap doan do hoi dong quan tri duong nhiém diéu hanh theo ndi
dung da thong bao duoc dai hoi ddng cb dong thudng nién biéu quyét.

1. The meeting shall be organized in accordance with the provisions of the Law on
Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14 dated June 17, 2020; the Law on Securities No.
54/2019/QH14 dated November 26, 2019; and the Charter of Organization and Operation
of the Group as managed by the current Board of Directors in accordance with the contents
that have been announced and voted on by the annual general meeting of shareholders.

2. Hoi dong quan tri tién hanh cudc hop dai hoi ddng c6 dong khi co sb c¢b dong du
hop dai dién trén 50% tong so phicu bicu quyéet (Piéu 145 Luat Doanh nghiép nam 2020).

2. The Board of Directors shall hold the general meeting of shareholders when the
number of shareholders present at the meeting represents more than 50% of the total voting
shares (Article 145 of the 2020 Law on Enterprises).

3. Chu tich Hoi déng quan tri chu toa phién hop chiu trach nhiém diéu hanh dai hoi
va gidi thi¢u thanh vién tham gia doan chu tich dai hoi.
3. The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall preside over the meeting and is

responsible for managing the general meeting and introducing the members participating in
the presidium of the General Meeting.



4. Ban Thu ky - kiém phiéu dai hoi do chu toa dai héi gidi thi¢u va thong qua dai hoi
dong c6 dong.

4. The Secretariat - vote counting committee of the meeting shall be introduced by
the chairman of the meeting and approved by the general meeting of shareholders.

5. Ban T chirc gitip viéc t6 chirc dai hoi dong c6 dong, dugc thanh 1ap theo quyét
dinh s6 40/2025/Qb-HAP ngay 14/3/2025 cua Hoi dong quan tri Tép doan.

5. The Organizing Committee, which assists in organizing the general meeting of
shareholders, is established according to Decision No. 40/2025/QD-HAP dated March 14,
2025, by the Board of Directors of the Group.

POI VOI CO PONG DU CUQC HQP PAI HQI PONG CO PONG

FOR SHAREHOLDERS ATTENDING THE GENERAL MEETING OF
SHAREHOLDERS

1. C6 dong dén du cudc hop dat hoi dong co dong phai xac nhan véi Ban T4 chirc Ve
s6 ¢b phan sO htru hodc ¢b phan dai dién uy quyen M01 ¢b phan tuong tmg véi 01 quyén
biéu quyét, mdi cd déng dy hop c6 mot phiéu biéu quyét va mot b tai licu.

1. Shareholders attending the General Meeting of Shareholders must confirm with
the Organizing Committee the number of shares they own or represent by proxy. Each
share corresponds to one voting right, and each attending shareholder will receive one
voting ballot and one set of documents.

2. C6 dong dung phiéu biéu quyét, dé biéu quyét timg ndi dung theo yéu ciu cua chu
toa.

2. Shareholders shall use voting ballots to vote on each matter as requested by the
chairman.

Thé 1& biéu quyét: Dai hoi s& lay biéu quyét cua cd dong véi cac tiéu chi nhu tan
thanh, khong tan thanh va y kién khac.

Voting rules: The General Meeting will collect shareholders' votes based on the
criteria of approval, disapproval, and other opinions.

3. C6 dong mubn phat biéu y kién cua minh phai gio phiéu xac nhan c6 phan dy hop
va duoc chu toa dong y. Y klen phat biéu cua c6 dong dung voi ndi dung chuong trinh nghi
su cuia dai hoi, bao dam ngin gon va rd rang ndi dung can phat biéu. Mai ¥ kién phat biéu
khong qua 05 phut.

3. Shareholders who wish to express their opinions must raise their shareholding
confirmation ballot and obtain the chairman's approval. Shareholders' statements must be
relevant to the meeting agenda, concise, and clearly presented. Each statement shall not
exceed five (05) minutes.

4. Cd dc}ng du hop phai nghiém tic gitr gin trat ty, van minh, khi vao hoi truong;
khong hut thuoc; khong noéi chuyén riéng; trong cudc hop dé nghi tat dién thoai di dong
hodac dé dién thoai di dong & ché dd hop, ché do rung.

4. Attending shareholders must strictly maintain order and civility in the conference
hall; smoking is prohibited, and private conversations should be avoided. During the

meeting, shareholders are requested to turn off mobile phones or set them to meeting or
silent mode.

CAC NGUYEN TAC CHUNG
GENERAL PRINCIPLES



1. Ban Thu ky - kiém phiéu c6 trach nhiém ghi lai diy da toan bd ndi dung chuong
trinh nghi sy va y kién cta cac cd6 dong vao bién ban cudc hop.

1. The Secretariat - Vote Counting Committee is responsible for fully recording the
entire meeting agenda and shareholders' opinions in the meeting minutes.

2. Thé 18 biéu quyét: Mdi ¢ phan so hitu hodc dai dién s¢ hitu ing v6i mot quyén
biéu quyeét.

2. Voting rules: Each owned or represented share corresponds to one voting right.

3. Nghi quyet vé noi dung sau day dugc thong qua néu duoc s ¢b dong dai dién tu
65% tong sd phiéu biéu quyét tro 1én cia tat ca c6 dong du hop va biéu quyét tan thanh tai
cudc hop:

3. A resolution on the following matters shall be passed if it is approved by
shareholders representing at least 65% of the total voting rights of all shareholders
attending and voting at the meeting.

3.1. Loai c6 phan va téng s6 c¢d phan cua ting loai.

3.1. Class of shares and the total number of shares for each class.
3.2. Thay d6i nganh, nghé va linh vuc kinh doanh.

3.2. Changes in business lines, industries, and sectors.

3.3. Thay d6i co ciu t6 chirc quan 1y cong ty.

3.3. Changes in the company's management structure.

3.4. Dy 4n dau tu hodc ban tai san co gia tri tu 35% téng gia tri tai san tr¢ 1én duogc
ghi trong bao cdo tai chinh gan nhat cuia cong ty.

3.4. Investment projects or asset sales valued at 35% or more of the total asset value
recorded in the company's latest financial statements.

3.5. T6 chirc lai, giai thé cong ty.
3.5. Reorganization or dissolution of the company.

4. Cac nghi quyet khac dugc thong qua khi dugc so ¢ ddng so hiru trén 50% tong sb
phiéu biéu quyét cua tat ca cd dong tham du va biéu quyét tai cudc hop tan thanh.

4. Other resolutions shall be approved if they receive affirmative votes from
shareholders representing more than 50% of the total voting rights of all attending and
voting shareholders.

5. Cac nghi quyet dai hoi dong ¢ dong duoc thong qua bang 100% téng sd cb phan
¢ quyén biéu quyet 1a hop phép va co6 hi¢u lyc ngay ca khi trinh ty, thu tuc triéu tdp hop va
thong qua nghi quyét d6 vi pham quy dinh ctia Luat Doanh nghiép va Piéu 18 cong ty.

5. Resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders passed with 100% of the total
voting shares are legally valid and effective, even if the order and procedures for convening
the meeting and passing the resolution violate the provisions of the Law on Enterprises and
the Company's Charter.



6. Qua trinh dién ra cudc hop dai hoi ddng cd dong, Ban T chirc co quyén moi ra
khoi cudc hop nhitng ¢ dong gay r6i, mat trat tu, khong tuan thu ndi quy hop dai hoi dong
c¢b dong va coi nhu c6 dong dé tu bo quyén biéu quyét ciia minh.

6. During the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Organizing Committee has the
right to request the removal of any shareholder who disrupts the meeting, causes disorder,
or fails to comply with the regulations on the General Meeting of Shareholders. Such
shareholders shall be considered as having voluntarily forfeited their voting rights.

Trén day 1a ndi quy cudc hop dai hoi ddng cb dong thuong nién nam 2025 cua Tap
doan HAPACO, kinh dé nghi ¢ dong dén tham duy dai hoi, phdi hop thyuc hién tét dé cudc
hop dai hoi ddng cd dong thanh cong tét dep!

Above are the regulations for the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of
HAPACO Group. We kindly request all attending shareholders to cooperate and adhere to
these regulations to ensure a successful meeting.

CONG TY CO PHAN TAP POAN HAPACO
HAPACO GROUP JOINT STOCK

Noi nhan/Recipients ACOMPANY ,

- HDQT, BTGD, BKS; T/M. HOI BONG QUAN TRI

- Board of Directors, Board of ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF
Management, Board of DIRECTORS
Supervisors;

- Quy Cé6 dong;

- Esteemed Shareholders;

- Luu HCNS,; TKHDQT;

- Archived at Administrative

and Human Resources;
Secretariat of the Board of
Directors;



CONG TY CO PHAN TAP CONG HOA XA HOI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM

POAN HAPACO SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
HAPACO GROUP JOINT Poc 1ap — Tw do — Hanh phuc
STOCK COMPANY Independence — Freedom — Happiness

S6: 51/BC-HAP
No.: 51/BC-HAP Hai Phong, ngay 31 thang 3 nam 2025
Hai Phong, March 31, 2025

BAO CAO
KET QUA HOAT PONG SAN XUAT KINH DOANH NAM 2024
PHUONG HUONG NHIEM VU VA KE HOACH SAN XUAT KINH DOANH NAM 2025
(Trinh Dai hji dong cé dong thuwdng nién nim 2025)
REPORT
ON BUSINESS PERFORMANCE IN 2024;
PRODUCTION AND BUSINESS DIRECTIONS, DUTIES, AND PLAN FOR 2025
(Submitted to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders)

Phin thir nhit
Part 1
KET QUA HOAT PONG SAN XUAT KINH DOANH NAM 2024
BUSINESS PERFORMANCE IN 2024

I. PAC PIEM TINH HINH CHUNG NAM 2024

I. CHARACTERISTICS OF GENERAL SITUATION IN 2024

Nam 2024, nén kinh té thé gi6i tiép tuc qua trinh phuc hdi cham va khong dong déu,
lién tuc duge cai thién vé cudi nam. Mic du mat béng lam phéat toan cau da co nhirng budc
cai thién dang ké so v6i nim 2023 nhung kinh té thé gi6i van con nhiéu rai ro vé6i cac chudi
cung (mg va gia ca hang hoa qudc té bién dong khong ngimg. Nhiéu nén kinh té 16n da bat
dau qua trinh cit giam 1i suat, gitip nGi long cac diéu kién tai chinh.

In 2024, the world economy continues its slow and uneven recovery, continuously
improving towards the end of the year. Although the global inflation has improved
significantly compared to 2023, the world economy still faces many risks with supply chains
and international commodity prices constantly fluctuating. Many major economics have
begun the process of cutting interest rates, helping to loosen financial conditions.

Trong boi canh d6, hoat dong san xuat, kinh doanh va dau tu ciia Cong ty C6 phan Tép
doan HAPACO chiu anh hudng 16n véi cac yéu td, nguyén nhan khach quan chu yéu nhu
sau:

In that context, the production, business and investment activities of HAPACO Group
Joint Stock Company are greatly affected by the following main objective factors and causes:

1. Thuan lgi

1. Advantages

- Tap doan ludn nhan dugc sy tin tudng, dong vién khich 18 ctua quy cb dong, cac don



vi trong nganh va sy quan tam chi dao, giup d& cua cac dia phuong noi c6 cac cong ty thanh
vién dugc cap phép hoat dong, dimg chan trén dia ban.

- The Group has received the trust and encouragement of the shareholders and entities
in the industry and the attention, direction and support of localities where member companies
are licensed to operate and are located at all times.

- Cac mbi quan hé 14u ndm véi cac khach hang 16n va khach hang truyén thdng tiép tuc
duoc vun dép, cing cb.

- Long-term relationship with major and traditional customers continue to be nurtured
and consolidated.

- B4i ngti can bg, cong nhan vién lao dong c6 nang luc, kinh nghi¢m, doan Kkét, gén bo,
nhiét tinh trong moi nhiém vu dugc giao.

- Team of officials and employees who are capable, experienced, united, committed
and enthusiastic in all assigned tasks.

2. Kho6 khin

2. Difficulties

- Tinh trang cdng thiang trong thwong mai qudc té, dic biét 1a giira My va Trung Québc,
Nga va phuong Ty dang va sé tiép tuc gdy anh hudng tiéu cuc 1én ting trudng kinh té toan
cau. Lam dat gy chudi cung tng dau tu, tic dong ddy gia cac loai nguyén liéu, nhién liéu,
vat tu tang cao.

- The tension in international trade, especially between the United States of America
and China and between Russia and the West, has been continuing and will continue to have
a negative impact on global economic growth, disrupting the investment supply chain, and
pushing up the prices of raw materials, fuels and supplies.

- Ngudn nguyén liéu cung ing cho hoat dong san xuét gidy dé xuat khau khong on dinh,
canh tranh khdc liét, gia thu mua cao van khong dap tmg da cho san xuat, ddn dén syt giam
san lwong 1am ting gia thanh san pham, giam hiéu qua san xuat.

- The supply of raw materials for paper production for export is unstable with fierce
competition. High purchase prices are still not enough to meet the production needs, leading
to a decrease in output, an increase in product costs and a reduction of production efficiency.

- Nguyén liéu OCC ndi dia rat khan hiém, do giam cAu tiéu dung ndi dia. L& OCC nhap
khau ting cao va kho nhdp do chinh sach méi trudng duoc siét chit. Dan toi nguyén liéu ting
gia nhung gia ban san pham lai giam. Do viy, hiéu qua SXKD gidy ndi dia khong dat ky
vong.

- Domestic OCC raw materials are very scarce, due to reduced domestic demand.
Imported OCC paper margins are high and difficult to import due to tightened environmental
policies. It leads to an increase in raw material prices but a decrease in product prices.
Therefore, the efficiency of domestic paper production and business fails to meet
expectations.

II. NHUNG KET QUA PAT PUQC

II. ACHIEVED RESULTS

1. Két qua hoat dong san xuit kinh doanh ciia Tap doan

1. Business performance of the Group

Két qua hoat dong san xuét kinh doanh cta toan Tap doan nam 2024 dat dugc nhu sau:

The business performance of the Group in 2024 are as follows:
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- Tong san luong gidy cac loai dat 35.505 tan, dat 107% chi tiéu ké hoach nim, bang
123% so voi cung ky nam 2023.

- Total output of paper of all kinds reached 35,505 tons, reaching 107% of the annual
plan target, equal to 123% compared to the same period in 2023.

- Tong doanh thu 609.827 triéu dong, dat 100,13% chi tiéu ké hoach nim, bang 189%
so voi cung ky nam 2023.

- Total revenue of 609,827 million VND, reaching 100.13% of the annual plan target,
equal to 189% compared to the same period in 2023.

- Téng loi nhuén trude thué 105.065 tricu déng, dat 203,22% chi tiéu ké hoach nam,
bang 485,7% so vai cung ky ndm 2023.

- Total profit before tax of 105,065 million VND, reaching 203.22% of the annual plan

target, equal to 485.7% compared to the same period in 2023.
Chi tiét cu thé cac chi tiéu nhw sau:
Specific details of the targets are as follows:

] o THUC HIEN THUYC HIEN SO SANH
STT CAC CHITIEU bVT NAM 2024 NAM 2023 COMPARISON
NO. TARGETS UNIT IMPLEMENTED | IMPLEMENTED %
IN 2024 IN 2023
1 | Tong san lrong san xuat Tan 35.505 28.967 123
Total production output Tons
Gidy dé Tan 20.150 18.621 108
1.1 | Base paper Cont 815 699 117
Trong d6 xuat khau Tons of
Of which, export of container
1.2 | Giay Kraft Tan 13.796 8.753  157,6
Kraft paper Tons
1.3 | Giay Tissue Tan 1.556 1.593 96,7
Tissue paper Tons
2 | Tong doanh thu Triéu 609.827 322.548 189
Total revenue dfﬁng
Million
VND
Trong do6 doanh thu XK USD 8.610.051 7.754.096 111
Of which, export revenue
3 | Tong lgi nhuén truée thué | Triéu 105.065 21.632 485,7
Total profit before tax dong
Million
VND
4 | Nop ngan sach nha nuéc Triéu 20.828 16.799 123,9
Payment to State Budget dfﬁng
Million
VND

2. Hoat dong nghiép vu
2. Operations

Céc phong nghiép vu di tham muu cho Hoi ddng quan trj va Ban Téng Giam déc trong




viéc xay dung du thao ké hoach san xuét kinh doanh hang thang, hang quy dé Hoi dong quan
tri xem xét phé duyét giao cho cac don vi; két ndi thong tin, trao dbi truc tuyén vé cac nghiép
vu quan ly, tai chinh, ké toan, nhan lyc, ...; thuc hién cong tac kiém tra, kiém soat va giam
sat ndi bo vé cong tac quan ly diéu hanh tai cac cong ty, don vi, c6 cac bao céo, kién nghi va
dé xuét hop 1y dé Hoi ddng quan tri xem xét dua ra cac quyét sach, chi dao kip thoi.

Functional departments have advised the Board of Directors and the Board of
Management in drafting monthly and quarterly production and business plans for the Board
of Directors to consider, approve and assign to entities; connected information and exchanged
online on management, finance, accounting, human resources, ...; carried out internal audit,
control and supervision of management and operation at companies and entities; and made
reasonable reports, recommendations and proposals for the Board of Directors to consider
and make timely decisions and directions.

3. Hoat ddng xuic tién dau tw

3. Investment promotion activities

Trong nam qua Tap doan da lan luot khao sat, thué tu van, xuc tién dau tu, lap hd so
phap 1y trinh Uy ban nhan dan thanh phd Hai Phong, tinh Hai Duong va cac BO, S, Nganh
lién quan xin chu truong dau tu cac dy 4n méi, dé ting bude chuyén doi va dan thay thé mot
bd phan nganh nghé, linh vuc san xuét, kinh doanh hién tai hiéu qua thép. Cu thé:

In the past year, the Group has successively surveyed, hired consultants, promoted
investment and prepared legal documents to submit them to People’s Committees of Hai
Phong City and Hai Duong Province, and relevant Ministries, Departments and Agencies to
request investment policies for new projects, in order to gradually transform and replace a
part of the current low-efficiency production and business lines and sectors. Specifically:

3.1. Dy 4n Dau tu xdy dung Nha may Gidy HAPACO, ning cong suét tir 18.000 tin/nim
1én 68.000 tAn/nam (trong d6 c6 50.000 tin/nam 1a gidy Tissue; 18.000 tin/nam la gidy Kraft).

3.. HAPACO Paper Factory Construction Investment Project, increasing capacity from
18,000 tons/year to 68,000 tons/year (of which 50,000 tons/year is Tissue paper and 18,000
tons/year is Kraft paper).

3.2. Tham gia hop tic dau tu du 4n xay dung Bénh vién Pa khoa Qudc té Green Hai
Duong, tai tinh Hai Duong; quy mé du 4n 500 givdng; tong mirc dau tu khoang 1000 ty dong;
thoi gian xay dung co ban 1a 2 nam; du kién di vao hoat dong tu cudi nam 2026.

3.2. Participating in investment cooperation in the Green Hai Duong International
General Hospital Construction Project in Hai Duong Province; with the project scale of 500
sickbeds and total investment of about 1,000 billion VND. Duration for capital construction
is 2 years, and the project is expected to be operational by the end of 2026.

4. Thue hién cac nhiém vu khac

4. Performing other duties

4.1. Bao dam an ninh trdt ty, an toan vé sinh lao dong, phong chay chita chay

4.1. Ensuring security and order, occupational safety and hygiene, and fire prevention
and fighting

Tap doan co cac cong ty thanh vién trai rong trén dia ban nhiéu tinh, hoat dong trong
linh vurc san xuat cong nghiép, ché bién nguyén liéu, gia cong hang xuét khau va san xudt cac
san phém tiéu thu ndi dia co sir dung nhién liéu, vat tu va nguyén liéu dé chay. Do d6 cong
tac gidm sat, bao v€, bao ddm an ninh trat tu; tuyén truyén, huén luyén bdo dam an toan lao
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dong, phong chay, chita chay ludn duoc quan tim; san xuat bao dam an toan, an ninh trat ty
dugc gitr virng, khong c6 tai nan lao dong, khong c6 chay nd, tai san duge bao vé bao dam an
toan.

The Group has member companies spread across many provinces, operating in the fields
of industrial production, raw material process, export processing and production of domestic
products using fuel and flammable materials. Therefore, monitoring, protection, security and
order assurance, as well as propaganda and training on ensuring occupational safety and fire
prevention and fighting are of concern at all times. Production ensures safety, security and
order is maintained, there are no occupational accidents as well as no fires and explosions,
and assets are protected safely.

4.2. T6 chirc viéc lam, cham lo ché dé chinh sach va doi song nguweoi lao dong

4.2 Arranging jobs and taking care of benefits, policies and lives for employees

Do chudi cung img thwong mai va dau tu toan cau bi dut gdy, gian doan, cac don dat
hang bi giam sut dang ké, 1am giam san luong, giam doanh thu, anh huong dén viéc lam va
thu nhép cua ngudi lao dong. Tap doan di chi dao co cac giai phap hop 1y, bé tri lao dong
luan phién, phu cip hd tro tién lwong, thuc hién day du va giai quyét kip thoi cac ché do vé
bao hiém x4 hoi, bao hiém y té, bao hiém thit nghiép, dm dau, thai san va cac ché d6 chinh
sach lién quan dé ngudi lao dong yén tim 1am viée, gin bo cbng hién cho Tap doan.

Due to the disruption of global trade and investment supply chain, orders have decreased
significantly, reducing output and revenue, affecting jobs and income of the employees, the
Group has directed reasonable solutions, arranging rotating labor, providing allowances for
salary support, fully implementing and promptly settling social insurance, health insurance,
unemployment insurance, illness, maternity and paternity benefits along with relevant
policies, so that the employees can work with peace of mind and dedicate themselves to the
Group.

4.3. Cong tdc xa hoi, hoat dong tur thién

4.3. Social work, charity activities

Két hop hai hoa thyc hién nhiém vy chinh tri, tap trung ngu@)n luc cho san xuét, kinh
doanh va dau tu, thuc hién déy du nghia vu ndp ngan sach Nha nudc; Tap doan con tich cuc
tham gia cac hoat dong xa hoi, tir thién, ing ho cac quy dén on, vi nguoi ngheo, khuyén hoc,
... v6i s tién gin 2 ty dong, chia sé cing cong dong gop phan bao dam an sinh xa hoi.

Harmoniously combining the implementation of key tasks, inclusive of focusing
resources on production, business and investment, fully fulfilling the obligation of payment
to the State Budget; the Group also actively participates in social and charity activities,
supporting gratitude, for-the-poor, education promotion, ... funds with an amount of nearly 2
billion VND, sharing with the community to contribute to social security assurance.

5. Hoat ddng ciia td chirc dang va cac to chirc chinh tri

5. Activities of Party organizations and political organizations

T chuc dang, cong doan va doan thanh nién ctia Tap doan, t6 chue va hoat dong theo
quy dinh, 1a noi quy tu sinh hoat, hoc tap, chia sé tam tu nguyén vong ctuia dang vién, doan
vién cong doan, doan vién thanh nién, dugc Hoi d@)ng quan tri tao moi diéu kién thuan loi vé
thoi gian va ho tro kinh phi dé cac to chirc hoat dong dat hiéu qua.

Party organizations, trade unions and youth unions of the Group, which have been
organized and have been existing as prescribed, are places for gathering, studying and sharing
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thoughts and aspirations for Party members, trade union members and youth union members.
The Board of Directors creates favorable conditions for these organizations in terms of time
and financial support in order for them to operate effectively.

Co ché phdi hop giita Pang uy v6i Hoi dong quan tri va cac to chic doan thé cua Tap
doan trong cong tac 1anh dao, chi dao, tuyén truyén, phé bién va van dong dang vién, doan
vién, can bd, cong nhan vién lao dong, guong mau chap hanh duong 16i, chu trrong cia Pang,
chinh sach, phap ludt ctia Nha nudce, quy dinh cua td chire, diéu 1¢, noi quy lao dong va cac
quy dinh cta Tap doan dugc thuc hién rat tot.

The coordination mechanism between the Party Committee, the Board of Directors and
the mass organizations of the Group in the leadership, direction, propaganda, dissemination
and mobilization of Party members, union members, officials, employees to be in exemplary
compliance with the guidelines and policies of the Party, the policies and laws of the State,
the regulations of the organizations, the Charter, the internal labor rules and the regulations
of the Group, is implemented very well.

Phong trao thi dua lao ddng sang tao, lao dong gidi, nang cao nang suét, chat lugng, hi¢u
qua, thuc hanh tiét kiém, nhan rong guong dién hinh tién tién, xuét sic, ... ludn duoc can bd,
cong nhan vién lao dong tham gia tich cuc va lan tda manh mé.

The emulation movement of creative labor; good labor; improvement of productivity,
quality and efficiency; thrift practice; replication of typical advanced and excellent examples;
... has been actively participated in by officials and employees at all times and spread
strongly.

Cac danh hi¢u thi dua nam 2024 duoc Hoi déng thi dua khen thudng cua Tap doan, xét
duyét v6i két qua: Chién si thi dua 6 ngudi (1%); Lao dong tién tién xudt sic 305 nguoi (35%);
Lao dong tién tién 370 ngudi (42%); Lao dong tién tién tirng mat 122 ngudi (14%); Lao dong
hoan thanh nhiém vu 65 ngudi (7%), lao dong khuyén khich 10 ngudi (1%). S6 tién khen
thuong hon 7 ty dong.

The emulation titles in 2024 were awarded by the Emulation and Reward Council of the
Group with the following results: Emulation Fighter: 6 people (1%); Advanced and Excellent
Worker: 305 people (35%); Advanced Worker: 370 people (42%); Advanced Worker in each
Aspect: 122 people (14%); Worker with Task Completion: 65 people (7%); and Console
Worker: 10 people (1%). The reward amount is more than 7 billion VND.

III. NHUNG MAT CON TON TAIL HAN CHE

II1. SHORTCOMINGS AND LIMITATIONS

- Mic du cac cong ty thanh vién da c6 nhimng c6 gang nhat dinh, phan du thyc hién ké
hoach Ho6i déng quan tri giao tur dau nam; tuy nhién chi c6 chi ti€u lgi nhudn dat dugc c6 su
tang truong, cac chi tiéu vé san lugng, doanh thu, kim ngach xuét khau déu chua dat ké hoach.

- Although the member companies have made certain efforts and strived to implement
the plan assigned by the Board of Directors at the beginning of the year, only the profit target
has grown, while the targets on output, revenue and export turnover have not met the plan.

- Cong tac quan 1y diéu hanh & mot bd phan cong ty thanh vién vin con boc 16 nhiing
han ché, chua c6 duoc sy d6i moi, dot pha can thiét dé nang cao hi¢u qua hoat dong.

- The management and operation of a part of the member companies still reveals
limitations, without the necessary innovation and breakthrough to improve their operational
efficiency.



- Hau hét hé thdng thiét bi va cac day chuyén san xuét chua dugc dau tu nang cip toi
vu, anh hudéng dén ning suit, chat luong san pham va hiéu qua san xuat kinh doanh.

- Most of the equipment and production line systems have not been invested in and
upgraded optimally, affecting productivity, product quality and production and business
efficiency.

Phin thi hai
Part 2
PHUONG HUONG NHIEM VU, KE HOACH SAN XUAT KINH DOANH NAM 2025

PRODUCTION AND BUSINESS DIRECTIONS, DUTIES, AND PLAN FOR 2025

I. CHI TIEU KE HOACH NAM 2025

I. PLAN TARGETS FOR 2025

Nam 2025 c6 y nghia quan trong trong vi¢c thuc hi¢n ké hoach phat trién cta Tap doan
nhiém ky 5 nim 2021 — 2026. Nhung trong bdi canh quéc té, khu vuc va trong nude con nhidu
khé khin, thach thire, tiém 4n nhitng nguy co, dién bién phirc tap, kho luong. Dé hoan thanh cac
muc tiéu dé ra, doi hoi phai c6 su vao cudc tich cuc, quyét liét hon nita ctia ca hé théng chinh tri,
tir Hoi ddng quan tri, Ban Tong Giam ddc, dén toan thé can bo, cong nhan vién lao dong Tap
doan, quyét tim phin du thuc hién hoan thanh vuot mirc cac chi tiéu, ké hoach va nhiém vu san
xuat, kinh doanh, ddu tu nm 2025 véi cac chi tiéu nhu sau:

The year 2025 is of great significance in implementing the development plan of the Group
for the 5-year term 2021 — 2026. However, in the international, regional and domestic context,
there are still many difficulties, challenges, potential risks, and complex and unpredictable
developments. In order to complete the set goals, it requires more active and drastic participation
of the entire political system, from the Board of Directors, the Board of Management, to all
officials and employees of the Group, determined to strive to exceed the targets, plans and tasks
of production, business and investment in 2025 with the following targets:

Ké hoach san xuét kinh doanh ciia ca Téap doan nam 2025

Production and business plan of the Group in 2025

STT CAC CHI TIEU BVT KE HOACH NAM 2025
NO. TARGETS UNIT PLAN FOR 2025
1 | Tong san lwong sin xuat Tén 39.137
Total production output Tons
Giay dé Tan 23.562
1.1 | Base paper Cont 1.073
Trong d6 xut khau Tons of container
Of which, export of
1.2 | Giay Kraft Tan 13.796
Kraft paper Tons
1.3 | Giay Tissue Tan 1.779
Tissue paper Tons
2 | Tong doanh thu Tri¢u dong 671.440
Total revenue Million VND
Trong d6 doanh thu xuat khau USD 13.524.760
Of which, export revenue
3 | Tong lgi nhuén trudc thué Triéu dong 110.000
Total profit before tax Million VND




4 | Nop ngan sach nha nuéc Triéu d(“)ng Nop ding, nép du
Payment to State Budget Million VND | Correct and full
payment

II. TO CHUC THU'C HIEN

II. ORGANIZATION FOR IMPLEMENTATION

1. Khoi san xuét cong nghiép

1. Industrial production section

- Khéi san xut tip trung cho cic san pham truyén théng cit giam chi phi dé dat hiéu
qué lg1 nhuén trén 10% doanh thu.

- Production section focuses on traditional products with cost reduction to achieve profit
efficiency of over 10% revenue.

1.1. San xuit gidy dé xuit khau

1.1. Base paper production for export

Tang cudng ngudn lyc cho viée to chirc thu mua nguyén liéu, bao dam dap tng kip thoi
day du nguyén liéu cho san xuét, két hop voi dau tu nang cip ti uvu hé thong may, thiét bi,
céc day chuyén san xuat, ... bao dam duy tri san xuét thong sudt, an toan.

Strengthening resources for organizing raw material procurement, ensuring timely and
sufficient supply of raw materials for production, combined with investment in optimizing
upgrading of machinery, equipment, production lines, ... to ensure smooth and safe
production.

Dy manh d6i méi sang tao, tich cuc chuyén ddi sé hoa cong tac quan 1y, diéu hanh,
kiém tra, gidm sat; chuyén doi xanh, cai tién k¥ thuat, quy trinh cong nghé, dinh mirc kinh té
k¥ thuat, tiét giam chi phi quan 1y & tat ca cac cong ty thanh vién, gin v6i nang cao ning suat,
chit luong, ha gia thanh san phém, bao dam canh tranh.

Promoting innovation; actively digitalizing management, operation, audit and
supervision; conducting green transformation; improving engineering, technological
processes and technical and economic standards; reducing management costs in all member
companies, associated with productivity and quality improvement, product cost reduction and
competitiveness assurance.

1.2. San xuét gidy kraft va gidy tissue

1.2. Kraft paper and Tissue paper production

- T6i wu hoa san xuat, da dang chung loai san pham, phan khtic khach hang, gin voi
mo rong thi truong ti€u thu trong nudc va tim kiém thi truong xuét khau, dé tang suc canh
tranh, bao dam tiéu thy hét san pham san xuét, dé tang hiéu qua san xuét kinh doanh.

- Optimizing production, diversifying product types and customer segments, associated
with domestic consumption market expansion and export market search, in order to increase
competitiveness, ensure consumption of all manufactured products and increase production
and business efficiency.

- Quyét liét giam chi phi trong san xuat

- Resolutely reducing production costs

2. Khéi kinh doanh diu tw va dich vu thwong mai

2. Trade service and investment business section

2.1. Dich vu dau tw kinh doanh tai chinh, chitng khoadn

2.1. Financial and securities business and investment services



B6 sung can ddi nguén von cho kinh doanh dich vu tai chinh, ching khodn, lya chon
cac danh muyc va san pham phu hop, bao dam an toan dé b tro gia ting loi nhuan.

Supplementing and balancing capital sources for financial and securities service
business, selecting appropriate categories and products, ensuring safety to supplement and
increase profits.

2.2. Dich vu thuong mai, du lich va xudt nhap khau

2.2. Import — export, tourism and trade services

Kién toan, cung ¢ hoat dong thuong mai, dich vy, xem xét mé rong cac nganh nghé
kinh doanh xuit nhap khau, dich vu du lich quéc té, xuat khau lao dong, ... nham khai thac
cac loi thé clia cac cong ty thanh vién va Tap doan.

Completing and consolidating trade and service activities, considering expansion of
import — export business lines, international tourism services, labor export, ... to develop the
advantages of member companies and the Group.

- Chi ti€u doanh thu kinh doanh dich vy thuong mai Du lich va xuét khau lao dong
trong nam 2025 phin d4u dat 12 ty dong, loi nhuin dat 4 ty dong

- The revenue target for labor export, tourism and trade services in 2025 must reach 12
billion VND, with the profit of 4 billion VND.

III. CAC DU AN PAU TU

III. INVESTMENT PROJECTS

bpé nang cao nang lyc san xuét, kinh doanh va dau tu, tang doanh thu, tdng hi¢u qua
hoat dong, nham tao ra gia tri moi va lgi ich 16n hon cho Tap doan va cd dong. Trong nam
2025 Tap doan tiép tuc hoan thién céc thu tuc hd so phap ly dé trién khai cac dy an theo
phuong cham iy ngan nudi dai, dé giam ap lyc vé huy dong giai ngan von, theo thir tu wu
tién dau tu:

In order to improve production, business and investment capacity, increase revenue,
increase operational efficiency, for the purpose of creating new value and greater benefits for
the Group and its shareholders, in 2025, the Group will continue to complete legal
documentation procedures to implement the projects in accordance with the motto of “living
within means to invest in the future”, to reduce pressure of capital mobilization and
disbursement, in order of investment priority:

1. Dy 4n Dau tu xay dung Nha may Gidy HAPACO, nang cong suat 1én 68.000 tAn/nim.
Trong d6 18.000 tAn/nim 1a gidy Kraft va 50.000 tin/nam 1a gidy Tissue.

1. HAPACO Paper Factory Construction Investment Project, increasing capacity to
68,000 tons/year (of which 50,000 tons/year is Tissue paper and 18,000 tons/year is Kraft
paper).

Dy 4n dd duoc S¢ Ké hoach va Dau tu thanh phd Hai Phong cdp Gidy chimg nhén ding
ky dau tu ma sé 2260670775 diéu chinh 1an thir 02 ngay 25/8/2023.

The project has been granted the Investment Registration Certificate No. 2260670775
by the Department of Planning and Investment of Hai Phong City with the second adjustment
dated August 25, 2023

Hién tai dy 4n da dugc B Tai nguyén va Moi truong phé duyét Bao cdo danh gia tac
dong méi trudng (DTM) va dang cho S& Xay dung Hai Phong, thim dinh cip Gidy phép xay
dung cho du an.

Currently, the project has been approved by the Ministry of Natural Resources and
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Environment for its Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Report and has been awaiting
the Department of Construction of Hai Phong City to appraise and grant the Construction
Permit.

Duy kién nam 2025 s& khéi cong xay dung. Thoi gian hoan thanh du an theo tinh toan
1a 12 thang; cong suét giai doan I 13 25.000 tAn/ndm (gidy Tissue). Ngudn von: Vay Ngan
hang Thuong mai.

It is expected to start construction in 2025. The estimated duration for project
completion is 12 months, with the capacity for phase I is 25,000 tons/year (Tissue paper).
Capital source: Loan from Commercial Banks.

2. Tham gia hop tac dau tu dy an xay dung Bénh vién Pa khoa Qudc té Green Hai
Duong, tai tinh Hai Duong; quy mé du 4n 500 giudng; tong mirc dau tu khoang 1000 ty dong;
thoi gian xay dung co ban 1a 2 nam; du kién di vao hoat dong tu cudi nam 2026.

2. Participating in investment cooperation in the Green Hai Duong International
General Hospital Construction Project in Hai Duong Province; with the project scale of 500
sickbeds and total investment of about 1,000 billion VND. Duration for capital construction
is 2 years, and the project is expected to be operational by the end of 2026.

Hién tai du an dang cho Uy ban nhan dan tinh Hai Duong va cac Sé, Nganh cua tinh
thong nhat viéc bdi thuong giai phong mit bang.

Currently, the project has been awaiting the People’s Committee of Hai Duong
Province and the provincial Departments and Agencies to agree on compensation for site
clearance.

IV. BIEN PHAP THUC HIEN

IV. MEASURES FOR IMPLEMENTATION

1. Uu tién tap trung ngudn lyc cho cac cong ty thanh vién hoat dong trong khdi san xuét
cong nghiép (gidy dé xuat khau, gidy kraft, gidy tissue); dap ung ddy du nguyén licu, san xuat
6n dinh, thong sudt; chu trong nang cao chat luong, duy tri 6n dinh chat luong, gia ting ning
sut; tiét giam chi phi, ha gia thanh, ... bao dam tiéu thu hét san phém, khong co tdn kho, dé
tang hiéu qua san xuét, kinh doanh.

1. Prioritizing focusing resources on member companies operating in the industrial
production section (base paper for export, Kraft paper, tissue paper); fully meeting raw
materials and stable and smooth production; focusing on improving quality, maintaining
stable quality and increasing productivity; reducing costs and lowering prices, ... to ensure
consumption of all products, no inventory and to increase production and business efficiency.

2. Tiép tuc cung cd thi truong ndi dia va thi truong xuat khau hién co, gén v61 mo rong,
phat trién thi truong méi, mang ludi thu mua nguyén liéu dau vao va tiéu thu san pham dau
ra dé bao dam chu dong trong san xudt, ting strc canh tranh.

2. Continuing to consolidate the existing domestic and export markets, combined with
expansion and development of new markets, input material purchasing networks and output
product consumption networks to ensure proactive production and competitiveness
enhancement.

3. Tang cuong nguén luc tai chinh, nhan lyc trinh d6 cao, bao dam tbi wu ké hoach,
chién lugc san xuit, kinh doanh chuyén sau, chuyén nghiép trén cac linh vuc nhu tai chinh,
ching khoan, thuong mai, dich vu, du lich, xuét khau lao dong, ... dé gia tang hi€u qua hoat
dong.
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3. Strengthening financial resources and highly qualified human resources, ensuring
optimization of specialized and professional production and business planning and strategies
in areas such as finance, securities, trade, services, tourism, labor export, ... to increase
operational efficiency.

4. Tang cudng cong tac kiém tra, kiém soat ndi bd dinh ky va dot Xuét, phan tich danh
gia khach quan nang luc, loi thé, nhitng kho khan, bat cap, tdn tai, han ché, ... danh gia thuc
chat hiéu qua kinh t& ddi v6i cac cong ty thanh vién hoat dong trong cac linh vurc san xuét
cong nghiép, Xuét nhap khéu, dau tu tai chinh, ching khoan, thuwong mai, dich vy, du lich, ...
dé xem xét quyét dinh tai céu trc, tinh gian gon nhe bo may c6 hiéu luc, hi¢u qua.

4. Strengthening the periodic and ad hoc internal audit and control, objectively
analyzing and evaluating capacity, advantages, difficulties, inadequacies, shortcomings,
limitations, ..., actually assessing the economic efficiency of member companies operating
in the fields of industrial production, import — export, financial investment, securities, trade,
services, tourism, ... to consider the decision on restructuring and streamlining the apparatus
effectively and efficiently.

5. Béy nhanh viéc xtc tién trién khai du 4n dau tu va dy an tham gia dau tu theo thi tu
vu tién, dé khoi cong xay dung va sém di vao hoat dong, gop phan nang cao ning luc, sém
tao ra chudi gia tri moi va loi ich 16n hon cho Tap doan va cd dong.

5. Accelerating the implementation of investment projects and investment participation
projects in order of priority, to start construction and put them into operation as soon as
possible, contributing to improving capacity and creating new value chains and greater
benefits for the Group and its shareholders in the near future.

Trén day 1 bao céo tom tat két qua hoat dong san xuét, kinh doanh nam 2024; phuong
huéng nhi€ém vu va ké hoach san xuét, kinh doanh nam 2025 cta Tap doan HAPACO. Tap
doan mong nhan dugc sy quan tam, ung h cta cac quy vi ) dong dé Tap doan hoan thanh
xuét sic nhiém vu va ké hoach san xuat, kinh doanh nam 2025.

The summary report on business performance in 2024 and the production and business
directions, duties and plans for 2025 of HAPACO Group are shown above. The Group hopes
to receive the attention and support of the shareholders so that the Group can successfully
complete its production and business duties and plans in 2025.

Hoi ddng quan tri Tap doan HAPACO, kinh trinh Dai hoi dong c¢b dong thuong nién
niam 2025 phé chuén!

The Board of Directors of HAPACO Group would like to kindly submit this document
to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for approval!

CONG TY CO PHAN TAP POAN HAPACO
HAPACO GROUP JOINT STOCK

Noi nhan COMPANY
Recipients PHO TONG GIAM POC PHU TRACH
- HPQT, BTGP, BKS; IN-CHARGE DEPUTY GENERAL DIRECTOR

- Board of Directors, Board of Management,
Board of Supervisors;

- Quy Cé6 dong;

- Shareholders;

- Luu HCNS; TKHPQT;
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- Archived by Administration and
Human Resources Department and Vii Xuén Thity

Secretary of Board of Directors. Vu Xuan Thuy
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CONG TY CO PHAN TAP CONG HOA XA HOI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM

POAN HAPACO SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
HAPACO GROUP JOINT Poc 1ap — Tu do — Hanh phuc
STOCK COMPANY Independence — Freedom — Happiness

Sb: 52/BC-HAP
No.: 52/BC-HAP Hai Phong, ngay 31 thang 3 nam 2025
Hai Phong, March 31, 2025

BAO CAO KIEM PIEM CUA HQI PONG QUAN TRI
REPORT ON REVIEW BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(Trinh DPai hdi ddng c6 dong thwdng nién nim 2025)
(Submitted to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders)

Can cir Nghi quyét sé 39/2024/NQ-BPHDCD ngay 20/4/2024 cua Pai hoi dong cd
dong thuong nién nim 2024 Cong ty C6 phan Tap doan HAPACO (Tép doan);

Pursuant to Resolution No. 39/2024/NQ-DHDCD dated April 20, 2024 by the 2024
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of HAPACO Group Joint Stock Company (the
Group);

Hoi dong quan tri Tap doan, bao céo kiém diém két qua thuc hién Nghi quyét Pai hoi
ddng cb dong thuong nién nim 2024 va du thao phuong hudng nhiém vy va ké hoach quan
tri Tap doan nam 2025, cu thé nhu sau:

The Board of Directors of the Group reports on the review of the implementation results
of the Resolution made by the 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders and drafts the
Group management directions, duties and plan for 2025, specifically as follows:

Phén thir nhit
Part 1
BAO CAO KET QUA THU'C HIEN NGHI QUYET
PAI HOI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2024
REPORT ON IMPLEMENTATION RESULTS OF RESOLUTION
MADE BY THE 2024 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

I. PANH GIA TINH HINH

I. SITUATION REVIEW

Niam 2024, nén kinh té toan cau di dan dugc phuc hoi, tuy nhién van con khéng it kho
khan va thach thirc

In 2024, the global economy has gradually recovered, but there are still many difficulties
and challenges



Gia ca cac yéu t6 dau vao phuc vu cho hoat dong san xuat, kinh doanh 14 cac loai nguyén
liéu, nhién lidu, vat tur, vét liéu, bién dong. Trong khi d6 do tong ciu suy giam, it don dit hang,
dan dén san lugng san xuét va tiéu thu déu bi sut giam, lam gidm doanh thu va hiéu qua, anh
huéng 16n dén viée 1am va thu nhap cua nguoi lao dong.

The prices of input factors for production and business activities such as raw materials,
fuels, supplies and materials fluctuate. Meanwhile, due to the decline in aggregate demand and
fewer orders, production and consumption output have both decreased, reducing revenue and
efficiency, greatly affecting employment and income of the employees.

Viéc ddi méi, chuyén ddi s6 hoa, chuyén ddi xanh, ... trong cong tac quan ly, diéu hanh,
td chire cac mat hoat dong san xuét, kinh doanh va dau tu, tor Tap doan dén cac cong ty thanh
vién, con cham, chua thich ung linh hoat nhay bén va chua theo kip xu thé chung.

Innovation, digital transformation, green transformation, ... in management, operation
and organization of production, business and investment activities, from the Group to the
member companies, are still slow, having not been flexible and responsible and not kept up
with the general trend.

II. CONG TAC QUAN LY PIEU HANH
II. MANAGEMENT AND OPERATION
1. Két qué hoat dong san xuit, kinh doanh
1. Business performance

Két qua hoat dong san xuét, kinh doanh va dau tu nim 2024 cta Tap doan da vuot dugc
muc tiéu dé ra. Céc chi tiéu vé téng san luong, téng doanh thu, lgi nhuan, déu vuot Kké hoach.
Céc sb liéu cu thé d3 duoc thé hién néu trong bao cdo chung va bdo cao kiém toan cua Tap
doan.

The production, business and investment performance of the Group in 2024 exceeded
the set targets. The targets on total output, total revenue and profit all exceeded the plan. The
specific figures have been shown in the general report and the audit report of the Group.

2. Quan trji nguon nhan luc
2. Human resource management

Chét lugng nguén nhan lyc duge xac dinh la yéu td cbt 161, then chdt, quyét dinh van
ménh thanh cong cia doanh nghiép, luén dugc Hoi déng quan tri dac biét quan tam chu trong,
Vi cac co ché dai ngd dic tha hip dan dé thu hit hién tai; tao dong luc, stic canh tranh, kich
thich, thuc ddy, nang cao dao dirc, nang luc, uy tin, trach nhiém, dé nhitng nhan t6 méi va doi
ngii can bd chi chdt quan 1y cac cp hién tai, tich cuc phan d4u, yén tim dong gop cong hién
ngdy mot nhiéu hon va hiéu qua cao hon cho su nghiép phat trién Tap doan.

Human resource quality is identified as the core and key factor, deciding the success of
the enterprise, receiving special attention from the Board of Directors at all times, with
attractive and specific remuneration mechanisms to attract talents; create motivation and
competitiveness; stimulate, promote and improve ethics, capacity, prestige and responsibility;
so that new factors and the current team of key managers at all levels actively strive and feel
secure to contribute more and more with more efficiency to the development of the Group.

Nhitng kho khin khach quan di tac dong anh huong 16n dén viée 1am va thu nhap cua
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ngudi lao dong, da duoc Hoi dong quan tri chi dao, giai quyét thao g& kip thoi, bao dam tién
luong, thu nhdp va cac ché dg chinh sach lién quan, dé nguoi lao dong yén tam lam viéc.

Objective difficulties that have greatly affected the employment and income of the
employees have been promptly resolved by the direction of the Board of Directors, ensuring
salaries, income and relevant policies and benefits, so that the employees can work with peace
of mind.

3. Quan ly hoat dfng tai chinh
3. Financial operation management

Vi¢c lya chon cong ty kiém toan doc 1ap, thyc hién kiém toan bao cdo tai chinh nim
2024 cta Tap doan theo quy dinh ctia phap luat vé kiém toan dbi v6i don vi c6 lgi ich cong
chung thugc linh vuc ching khoédn nam 2024, dugc thuc hi¢n dung theo Nghi quyét DPai hoi
ddng c6 dong thudng nién nam 2024 cua Tap doan.

The selection of an independent auditing company to audit the financial statements 2024
of the Group in accordance with the provisions of the law on auditing for public interest entities
in the securities sector in 2024 is carried out in accordance with the Resolution made by the
2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of the Group.

Thuc hién cong tac quan tri tai chinh doanh nghiép theo cac quy dinh cua phap luét hién
hanh va quy ché tai chinh ctia Tap doan. Hé théng ké toan tir Tap doan dén céc cong ty thanh
vién thuc hién hach toan, quan 1y dong tién t6i wu; phén tich hoat dong kinh té va lap bao céo
tai chinh ding ky han, tién dé dé Hoi dong quan tri dua ra cac quyét sach chi dao, diéu hanh,
ubn nin, giai quyét thao g& kip thoi nhitng kho khin, vudng mic, tao diéu kién cho hoat dong
clia cac cong ty thanh vién ludn dugc thong sudt, an toan, hiéu qua.

The corporate financial management is performed in accordance with the provisions of
the applicable laws and the financial regulations of the Group. The accounting system from
the Group to its member companies performs optimal accounting and cash flow management;
analyzes economic activities and prepares financial statements on time, which is a premise for
the Board of Directors to make decisions on direction, management, adjustment and timely
resolution of difficulties and obstacles, creating conditions for the operation of member
companies to be smooth, safe and effective at all times.

Chi dao ting cuong cong tac kiém tra, kiém soat, giam sat chi phi hoat dong san xuét,
kinh doanh va dau tu, cong tac thu tién hang, thu héi cong ng, dicu tiét, ludn chuyén, bao dam
quay vong von nhanh, hi€u qua, han ché su phu thudc von vay tin dung.

The strengthening of production, business and investment cost inspection, control and
supervision; merchandise cost collection; debt collection; regulation; and circulation is
directed, ensuring fast and effective capital turnover and limiting dependence on credit loans.

4. Quan ly giam sat hoat dong san xuit, kinh doanh va thi trwong

4. Management and supervision of production, business and market activities

Hoi dong quan tri di chi dao Téng Giam ddc/Giam ddc cac cong ty thanh vién, ting
cuong cong tac chi dao, diéu hanh tryc ti€p tai co sd, sdu sat voi san xuat, gidi quyet thao go
kip thoi nhiing kho khan, vudng mac, bat cap va kién nghi cua can bg, nhan vién vé dinh mtrc,
quy trinh, tién dg, giai phap, ... va y kién phan hoi cua khach hang vé chat lugng san pham,
hang hoa, dich vu; san lugng ti€u thy; thoi gian giao nhén hang, thanh toan tién hang va cac
tin hiéu khéc tur thi truong d€ cd cac quyét sach téi uu, phu hop.
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The Board of Directors has directed the General Director / Director of member
companies to strengthen the direction and direct management at their own facilities, closely
follow production, and promptly resolve difficulties, obstacles, inadequacies,
recommendations of officials and employees regarding standards, processes, progress,
solutions, ..., as well as feedback from customers on product, commodity and service quality;
consumption output; delivery time; payment for goods; and other signals from the market, so
as to have optimal and appropriate decisions.

I1L. CHI TRA CO TUC CHO CO PONG VA THU LAO CUA HQI PONG QUAN
TRI, BAN KIEM SOAT

III. PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS TO SHAREHOLDERS AND
REMUNERATIONS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS

Nim 2024, Tap doan da thuc hién theo Nghi quyét Dai hoi dong cd dong thuong nién
nam 2024 13 loi nhudn sau thué chwa phan phdi nam 2023 duoc giit lai dé tai du tu dong
thoi ning cao ning lyc tai chinh cho cac Cong ty thanh vién ciia Tap doan, han ché céc rai
ro thanh khoan cho doanh nghiép trong nam 2024 va gia ting loi ich cho c6 dong.

In 2024, the Group implemented the Resolution made by the 2024 Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders, which is to retain undistributed profit after tax in 2023 for
reinvestment while improving the financial capacity of the member companies of the
Group, limiting liquidity risks for the enterprise in 2024 and increasing benefits for the
shareholders.

IV. TONG KET CAC PHIEN HQP VA NGHI QUYET CUA HQI PONG QUAN TRI

IV. SUMMARY OF MEETINGS AND RESOLUTIONS MADE BY THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS

Ho1 dong quan tri da t6 chirc cac phién hop md rong t61 Ban Kiém soat va can bd chu
chot quan 1y céc cap cua Tap doan va cac cong ty thanh vién, gom cac ndi dung:

The Board of Directors held extended meetings with the Board of Supervisors and the
key managerial officers at all levels of the Group and its member companies, including the
following details:

- So két thong qua két qua hoat dong san xuat, kinh doanh hing thang, hing quy va giao
chi tiéu ké hoach hang thang, hang quy nam 2024 cho cac cong ty thanh vién va cac phong
nghiép vu cua Tap doan;

- Preliminary review of monthly and quarterly business performance and assignment of
monthly and quarterly targets for 2024 to member companies and functional departments of
the Group;

- Cong tac chuan bi Dai hoi dong cd dong thuong nién;

- Preparations for the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders;

- Théng qua ké hoach dau tu phat trién 5 nam nhiém ky 2021 — 2026;

- Approval of the 5-year development investment plan for the term of 2021 — 2026;
- Kién toan cac Ban quan 1y du 4n dau tu phét trién nhiém ky 2021 — 2026;

- Completion of the Development Investment Project Management Boards for the term
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of 2021 —2026;
- Trién khai thuc hién Nghi quyét Dai hoi dong c6 dong thuong nién nam 2024;

- Implementation of the Resolutions made by the 2024 Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders;

- Thong qua viéc thoai von di dau tu vao Cong ty c¢b phan Chimg khoan Hai Phong;

- Approval of the divestment of capital invested in Hai Phong Securities Joint Stock
Company;

- Thong qua viéc gdp thém von vao Cong ty c¢b phan Bénh vién Qubc té Green;

- Approval of the additional capital contribution to Green International Hospital Joint
Stock Company;

- Tong két cong tac thi dua, khen thuong cac don vi va ca nhan hoan thanh ké hoach va
nhiém vu nam 2024, trién khai nhiém vu nam 2025.

- Summarization of the emulation and reward for entities and individuals who have
completed the plan and duties in 2024, and implementation of the duties in 2025.

Céc nghi quyét ciia Hoi dong quan tri déu ding trong tdm cua ting thoi diém, dua ra
cac quyét sach quan tri, t6 chirc chi dao va diéu hanh kip thoi. Tryc tiép va gian tiép giai quyét
thio g& nhitng khé khan, vudng mic cho cc cong ty thanh vién, dé ddy manh téc do san xuét,
kinh doanh, bu dip san luong va doanh sé cho nhitng thang bi giam sat do kho khin khach
quan va da dat dugc nhitng két qua nhat dinh.

The resolutions made by the Board of Directors are all focused on each period, making
timely management and organization decisions and directions, directly and indirectly resolving
difficulties and obstacles for member companies, to boost production and business speed and

compensate for output and sales for months of decline due to objective difficulties, and they
have achieved certain results.

Phin thir hai
Part 2
PHUONG HUONG QUAN TRI TAP POAN NAM 2025
GROUP MANAGEMENT DIRECTIONS FOR 2025

Niam 2025 nén kinh té thé gidi duge du bao s& déi mat véi nhiéu bién s6. Lam phat duoc
kiém ché, cic ngan hang trung wong dan néi 1ong chinh sich tién té, tao diéu kién cho ting
truong kinh té. Tuy nhién, cang théng thuong mai va bién dong dia chinh tri s€ tiép tuc la
nhitng thach thuc 16n. Tur d6 dét ra cho Tap doan phai ¢é su tinh toan, can co, thich tng chu
dong, tmg pho linh hoat, tim kiém cac giai phap moi; tng bién kip thoi phu hop, dé vuot qua
moi khé khin; bién thach thirc thanh co hdi; bién khé khan thanh thuén lgi, dé cac hoat dong
san xuat, kinh doanh va dau tu bao dam an toan, hiéu qua ti vu.

In 2025, the world economy is forecast to face many variables. Inflation is controlled,
central banks gradually loosen monetary policies, creating conditions for economic growth.
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However, trade tensions and geopolitical fluctuations will continue to be major challenges.
From there, the Group must have calculations, foundations, proactive adaptation and flexible
response; seek new solutions; respond promptly and appropriately to overcome all difficulties;
turn challenges into opportunities; turn difficulties into advantages, so that the production,
business and investment activities ensure safety and optimal efficiency.

Cian ¢t vao céac chi tiéu thyuc té da dat dugc trong nam 2024 va dy bao nhu cAu cua thi
truong nam 2025. Hoi ddng quan tri thong nhat xay dung cac chi tiéu ké hoach va nhiém vu
nam 2025 da dugc néu trong bao cdo trinh dai hoi.

Based on the actual targets achieved in 2024 and the forecasted market demand in 2025,
the Board of Directors agreed to develop the planning targets and duties for 2025 stated in the
report submitted to the General Meeting.

I. MUC TIEU CHIEN LUQC
I. STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

1. T chtre, quan ly, diéu hanh Tap doan va cac cong ty thanh vién, thich trng chi dong,
linh hoat; bao dam c6 su can doi hai hoa gitra cac linh vyc, nganh nghé, dé bo trg san sé giam
thiéu rui ro, to1 da hda 191 nhuén san xuat, kinh doanh va dau tu, bado dam loi ich cua c6 dong.

1. Organizing, managing and operating the Group and its member companies,
proactively and flexibly adapting, ensuring a harmonious balance between fields and lines, to
complement and share risks, maximize production, business and investment profits, and ensure
shareholder benefits.

2. Tang cudng doi méi sang tao, ddy manh chuyén d6i s6, chuyén ddi xanh, s hoa cong
tac quan tri, quan 1y, diéu hanh, kiém tra, kiém soat, giam sat va két ndi tur Tap doan dén cac
cong ty thanh vién trong toan h¢ théng; cai cach céac thi tuc hanh chinh; cai tién chuyén mon,
nghiép vu, k¥ ning, quy trinh k¥ thuat cong nghé, ... dé giam thiéu bién ché nhan luc, tiét
giam chi phi, gia tang hiéu qué hoat dong.

2. Enhancing innovation; promoting digital transformation and green transformation;
digitizing governance, management, operation, audit, supervision and connection from the
Group to its member companies in the entire system; reforming administrative procedures;
improving expertise, skills, technical and technological processes, ... to reduce human
resources, reduce costs and increase operational efficiency.

3. Pau tu thoa dang cho cong tac dao tao, bdi dudng, phat trién nguén nhan luc chét
luong cao va ché do dai ngd thu hut hién tai, gan voi xdy dung nang tim cac chuan myc vin
hoa doanh nghiép, méi trudng 1am viéc chuyén nghiép, than thién, cong bang, dé can bo, cong
nhan vién lao dong yén tdm, gin bo cdng hién cho su nghiép phat trién Tap doan.

3. Adequately investing in training and fostering; developing high-quality human
resources and remuneration policies to attract talents, associated with building and raising
corporate cultural standards as well as professional, friendly and fair working environment, so
that officials and employees can confidently commit to contributing to the development of the
Group.



4. Tang cuong ky luat, ky cwong cong vu, phan cap, phan quyén rd nét hon trong cong
tac lanh dao, chi dao, diéu hanh, quan 1y, t6 chirc thyc hién nhiém vu chinh tri san xudt, kinh
doanh va dau tu, gin véi nghia vu, quyén loi va trich nhiém c4 nhan ngudi dimg dau ¢ mdi
cuong vi va mdi vi tri cong tac, dé nang cao hi¢u luc, hi€u qua trong thuc thi nhiém vu.

4. Strengthening public service discipline and decentralization in a clearer manner in
leadership, direction, operation, management, organization and implementation of key tasks
in production, business and investment, associated with the personal obligations, rights and
responsibilities of the head in each position and each job title, to improve the effectiveness and
efficiency in task performance.

5. Thyc hién t6t nghia vu ctia doanh nghiép dbi vi Nha nudc va trach nhiém ddi voi cb
dong, khong chi ¢ viéc ndp ngan sach, mang lai loi nhuin tdi da, ma con thuc hién tdt cong
tac quan tri ruai ro dé cac cb dong yén tam dau tu dai han va tiép tuc dau tu vao cac du an moi
trong chién luoc phat trién Tap doan giai doan 2021 — 2026 va trong ching dudng tiép theo.

5. Fulfilling the obligations of the enterprise to the State and its responsibilities to the
shareholders well, not only in payment into the budget and bringing maximum profits, but also
in performing well risk management so that the shareholders can feel secure in long-term
investment and continue to invest in new projects in the Group development strategy for the
period of 2021 — 2026 and in the next stage.

II. GIAI PHAP THU'C HIEN
II. SOLUTIONS FOR IMPLEMENTATION

1. Tiép tuc thuc hién tai cau trac hé théng, kién toan nhan sy cadn b quan ly chu chét
cac cap tir Tap doan dén cac cong ty thanh vién theo hudng tinh gian gon nhe, chuyén nghiép.
Ul tién tap trung nhan lyc cho cac vi tri truc tiép quan 1y san xuat va cac ngudn luc can va du
khac, dap ung kip thoi cho san xuat, kinh doanh va dau tu, luén thong sudt, an toan, hiéu qua.

1. Continuing to restructure the system, complete the personnel of key managerial
officers in the direction of streamlining, compactness and professionalism. Prioritizing
focusing on human resources for positions directly managing production and other necessary
and sufficient resources, promptly responding to production, business and investment and
being smooth, safe and effective at all times.

2. Pau tu mdéi, bd sung, nang cép co so ha tﬁng, nha xudng, may, thiét bi tai cac cong ty
thanh vién theo ké hoach, gin vdi nang cao cong tac diéu hanh, quan 1y, khai thac téi da cong
sut thiét bi; gia ting san lwong va ning sudt lao dong; duy tri chat luong san pham cao, 6n
dinh, dap ung tdt moi nhu cAu cta khach hang.

2. Newly investing in, supplementing and upgrading infrastructure, workshops,
machines, and equipment at member companies as planned, combined with improving
operation and management and maximizing equipment capacity; increasing output and labor
productivity; maintaining high and stable product quality, meeting all customer needs well.

3. Tiép tuc cung cd thi truong ndi dia va thi truong xuét khau hién co, dong thoi thuc
hién cong tac xuc tién thuong mai, mé rong phat trién thi truong moi, mang ludi thu mua
nguyén lidu dau vao, tiéu thu san phim dau ra va tao ra nhimg budc dot pha méi trong linh
vuc kinh doanh thuong mai, dich vu, du lich, Iit hanh, xuat khau lao dong, ... dé bao dam hoan
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toan chu dong trong san xuat, kinh doanh va ddu tu, gia ting thi phan, ting sitc canh tranh.

3. Continuing to consolidate the existing domestic and export markets, carrying out trade
promotion activities, expanding and developing new markets, input material purchasing
networks and output product consumption networks, and creating new breakthroughs in the
fields of trade, services, tourism, travel, labor export, ... to ensure complete initiative in
production, business and investment, increase market share, and increase competitiveness.

4. Pay nhanh viéc xuc tién trién khai dy 4n dau tu xdy dung Nha may Gidy HAPACO,
nang cong suét 1én 68.000 tin/ndm va tham gia dau tu xay dung Bénh vién Pa khoa Qudc té
Green Hai Duong, tai tinh Hai Duong; quy mé dy 4n 500 giwong; dé cac du an nay sém khoi
cong xay dung va sém di vao hoat dong, gop phan nang cao ning lyc, sém tao ra gia tri mai
va lgi ich 16n hon cho Tép doan va cb dong.

4. Accelerating the implementation of HAPACO Paper Factory Construction
Investment Project, increasing capacity to 68,000 tons/year, and participating in the investment
in construction of Green Hai Duong International General Hospital in Hai Duong Province,
with the project scale of 500 sickbeds, so that these projects can start construction and come
into operation as soon as possible, contributing to improving capacity and creating new value
and greater benefits for the Group and its shareholders in the near future.

Hoi déng quan tri Tap doan, kinh trinh Pai hoi d(“)ng cd dong xem xét phé chuén!

The Board of Directors of the Group would like to kindly submit this document to the
General Meeting of Shareholders for consideration and approval!

CONG TY CO PHAN TAP POAN HAPACO

Noi nhén HAPACO GROUP JOINT STOCK
Recipients COMPANY

- HPQT, BTGD, BKS; T/M. HOI PONG QUAN TRI

- Board of Directors, Board of Management, FOR AND ON BEHALF OF BOARD OF
Board of Supervisors; DIRECTORS

- Quy C6 dong;

- Shareholders,

- Luu HCNS,; TKHDQT;

- Archived by Administration and Human
Resources Department and Secretary of
Board of Directors.

CHU TICH HPQT
CHAIRMAN OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
TS. Vii Dwong Hién
PhD. Vu Duong Hien



CONG TY CO PHAN TAP CONG HOA XA HOI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM

POAN HAPACO SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
HAPACO GROUP JOINT DPoc lap — Tu do — Hanh phuc
STOCK COMPANY Independence — Freedom — Happiness

S6: 53/BC-HAP
No.: 53/BC-HAP Hai Phong, ngay 31 thang 3 nam 2025
Hai Phong, March 31, 2025

BAO CAO PANH GIA CUA THANH VIEN POC LAP HPQT
VE HOAT PONG CUA HPQT NAM 2024

ASSESSMENT REPORT OF INDEPENDENT MEMBERS OF BOARD OF
DIRECTORS ON PERFORMANCE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN 2024

Thanh vién Hoi dong quan tri doc 1ap Cong ty Co phan Tap doan Hapaco xin bao céo
danh gia vé hoat dong cuia HDQT nim 2024 nhu sau:

The independent members of the Board of Directors of Hapaco Group Joint Stock
Company would like to report on assessment of performance of the Board of Directors in
2024 as follows:

1. V& té chirc cac cude hop HPQT
1. Regarding organization of meetings of the Board of Directors

- Nam 2024, HPQT di t6 churc cac cude hop dinh ky va bat thuong, cac cudc hop cua
HDBQT da dugc tri¢u tap va thuc hién vai lich trinh cu thé, chuan bi tai liéu chu déo, theo
dung cic nguyén tic, tudn tha quy dinh tai Diéu 18 Tap doan va quy dinh cua phap luat. Noi
dung cudc hop duoc cac thanh vién HDQT thao luan, phan bién, danh gia déy du, can trong.

- In 2024, the Board of Directors held regular and extraordinary meetings. The
meetings of the Board of Directors were convened and held with specific schedule,
carefully prepared documents, in accordance with the principles, and in compliance with
the provisions of the Charter of the Group and the provisions of the law. The meeting
agenda was discussed, commented on and evaluated fully and carefully by the members of
the Board of Directors.

- C4c vén @ lién quan dén chién lugc, ké hoach kinh doanh, tai chinh, van hoa doanh
nghiép, ... déu dugc thao luan, kiém soat mot cach chat ché gitta HDQT va Ban Tong Gidm
doc.

- Issues related to strategy, business plan, finance, corporate culture, ... were all

discussed and closely controlled between the Board of Directors and the Board of
Management.

- Céc thay ddi vé ké hoach dau tu, chién lugc méi déu duogc nghién cuiu doc lap, co
co sO khoa hoc va phan bién trong HPQT va Ban Tong Giam doc.

- Changes in investment plans and new strategies were all independently researched,
scientifically based and commented on by the Board of Directors and the Board of
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Management.
2. V@ viéc giam sat hoat dong Ban Tong Giam doc
2. Regarding supervision of operation of the Board of Management

- Vé tong thé, HDQT di thuc hién t6t cong tac giam sat d6i véi Ban Téng Giam dbc,
dam bao hoat dong ctia cong ty ludn duoc kiém soat chit ché dé di dung dinh hudng chién
lwge va didu chinh cac quyét dinh kip thoi khi c¢6 nhing sy bién dong khac anh huong dén
hoat dong kinh doanh ctia cong ty.

- Overall, the Board of Directors has performed well in supervising the Board of
Management, ensuring that the operation of the company is closely controlled to stay on
track with the strategic direction at all times, and has timely adjusted decisions when there
are other fluctuations affecting the business operations of the company.

- Thanh vién HPQT giit chirc vu trong Ban Tong Giam ddc thudng xuyén tham dy
cac cudc hop dinh ky va bat thuong. Cac quyét dinh ciia Ban Tong Giam ddc déu dugc
phan tich, phan bién va tham van tir HDQT nham dam bao loi ich ctia Tap doan. Qua do,
HDQT ludn nidm rd tinh hinh hoat dong cua Tap doan cling nhu cdp nhat nhanh nhét cac
yéu cau tir thue té.

- The members of the Board of Directors holding positions in the Board of
Management regularly attend the regular and extraordinary meetings. The decisions made
by the Board of Management are analyzed, commented on and consulted by the Board of
Directors to ensure the interests of the Group. From there, the Board of Directors grasps
the operation of the Group at all times, as well as quickly updates the requirements from
the reality.

- HPQT dic biét quan tdm dén cac giai phap quan tri rai ro, nham hd tro ban diéu
hanh nhén dién sém cac van dé va giup Tap doan duy tri tinh bén vitng, 6n dinh trong hoat
dong, bao v¢ loi ich ciia nha dau tu.

- The Board of Directors pays special attention to risk management solutions, in order
to support the executive board in identifying problems early and helping the Group
maintain its sustainability and stability in operations, protecting the interests of the
investors.

3. Két qua giam sat ddi véi bao cdo tai chinh, tinh hinh hoat dong, tinh hinh tai
chinh cua Tap doan

3. Results of monitoring financial statements, operation and financial position of
the Group

- B4o c4o tai chinh dwgc 1ap va cong bd phu hop v6i chuan muc ké toan va quy dinh
phap luat hién hanh.

- Financial statements are prepared and published in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards and legal provisions.

- Cong ty kiém toan duoc lva chon dam bao d6 tin cdy, trung thyc, tuan thu thoi han
kiém toan, tuan thu cac quy dinh vé nghé nghiép, dam bao tinh doc lap, khach quan khi dua
ra y kién kiém toan.

- The selected auditing company ensures reliability and honesty, is in compliance with
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audit deadlines and professional professional regulations, and ensures independence and
objectivity when giving audit opinions.

- Két qua san xuét kinh doanh nim 2024 voi tong doanh thu 609,82 ty dong, dat
100,13% chi tiéu ké hoach nam, bang 189% so véi cung ky nam 2023. Téng loi nhuan
trude thué 105,065 ty dong, dat 203,22% chi tiéu ké hoach nam, bang 485,7% so véi cung
ky nam 2023.

- Business performance in 2024 with total revenue of 609.82 billion VND, reaching
100.13% of the annual plan target, equal to 189% compared to the same period in 2023;
and total profit before tax of 105,065 billion VND, reaching 203.22% of the annual plan
target, equal to 485.7% compared to the same period in 2023.

Cong ty da hoan thanh vugt ké hoach doanh thu va lgi nhuén theo ké hoach dit ra,
trong bdi canh nén kinh té thé gi6i ciing nhu trong nude van con chua phuc hdi, stc mua
giam dbi voi cac mat hang tiéu dung, gia ca nguyén lidu bién dong phirc tap, chénh léch ty
gia ngoai t¢ ... thi két qué kinh doanh 2024 1a mot sy n6 luc cua Ban Téng Giam Péc va
toan thé nguoi lao dong dé giam thiéu thap nhit rui ro d6i v6i hoat dong san xuit kinh
doanh cua Tap doan.

The Company has exceeded the set revenue and profit plan. In the context of the world
economy as well as the domestic economy still not recovering, the purchasing power
decreased for consumer goods, the complicated fluctuations in raw material prices, the
foreign exchange rate differences, ... the business performance in 2024 is an effort of the
Board of Management and all employees to minimize risks to the production and business
operation of the Company.

4. Giao dich giira ngwdi noi b cong ty, nguwdi lién quan cia nguwdoi ngi bo voi cong
ty

4. Transactions between insiders of the Company, their stakeholders and the
Company

- Cong ty di tudn thu quy dinh c6 lién quan vé thAm quyén phé duyét, theo dbi va
thuyét minh giao dich gitra ngudi ndi bd cong ty, ngudi co lién quan cia ngudi ndi bd véi
cong ty. Cac giao dich nay da duoc cong bd thong tin theo quy dinh ciia phap luat.

- The company has complied with the relevant regulations on authority to approve,
monitor and explain transactions between insiders of the company, their stakeholders and
the company. These transactions have been disclosed under the law.

5. Panh gia chung hoat dong cia HPQT

5. General assessment on operation of the Board of Directors

- Cac hoat dong ctia HDQT trong nam 2024 tuan tht Diéu 1¢ cong ty, Quy ché quan
tri cong ty va quy dinh phap luét.

- The activities of the Board of Directors in 2024 comply with the Charter of the
Company, the Governance Regulations of the Company and the legal provisions.

- T4t ca céac thanh vién HDQT d3 tudn thu cic quy dinh trong viéc tham gia cc cudc
hop HPQT, thao luan, biéu quyét doc 1ap, khach quan trén co sé dam bao cao nhét loi ich
cua cong ty.



- All members of the Board of Directors have complied with the regulations in
attending the meetings of the Board of Directors, discussing, and voting independently and
objectively on the basis of ensuring the highest interests of the company.

- HPQT da dé xuit giai phap hiéu qua, kip thoi hd trg dé Ban Tong Giam déc trong
qua trinh van hanh cong ty, thuc hién tot viéc gidm sat va kiém soat dam bao tuén tha quy
dinh cua phap luat.

- The Board of Directors has proposed the solutions effectively and supported timely
so that the Board of Management can implement its supervision and control well in the
process of operating the company, ensuring compliance with the provisions of the law.

Trén day la Bao céo hoat dong cua Thanh vién Hoi déng quan tri doc lap, kinh trinh
Dai hoi dong c6 dong thuong nién nam 2025 xem xét va thong qua.

The Performance Report of Independent Members of Board of Directors is shown
above. It is kindly submitted to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for
consideration and approval.

THANH VIEN POC LAP HPQT
INDEPENDENT MEMBERS OF
Noi nhan BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Recipients
- HPQT, BTGP, BKS;
- Board of Directors, Board of Management, Board
of Supervisors,

- Quy Cé dong;

- Shareholders;

- Luu HCNS; TKHPQT;

- Archived by Administration and Human TS. boan Duc Luyén
Resources Department and Secretary of Board PhD. Doan Duc Luyen

of Directors.



CONG TY CO PHAN CONG HOA XA HOI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM

TAP POAN HAPACO SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
HAPACO GROUP Poc lap - Tw do - Hanh phuc
JOINT STOCK Independence - Freedom - Happiness
COMPANY

;O:.S;ﬁ%%g Hai Phong, ngay 31 thang 3 nam 2025
0 i Hai Phong, March 31, 2025

BAO CAO HOAT PONG CUA BAN KIEM SOAT NAM 2024

REPORT ON THE ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS IN
2024

KE HOACH HOAT HOAT PONG CUA BAN KIEM SOAT NAM 2025

PLAN FOR THE ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS IN
2025
(Trinh DPai hdi ddng cé dong thwong nién nim 2025)
(Submitted to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders)

Thyc hién nhiém vu cua Ban Kiém soat duoc quy dinh tai Ludt Doanh nghiép )
59/2020/QH14 ngay 17/6/2020; va Diéu 1é T6 chtc va Hoat dong ctia Cong ty Co phan Tap
doan HAPACO (Tap doan). Ban Kiém soat, bao cao tom tit hoat dong, trinh Pai hoi dong cb
dong thuong nién nam 2025.

In accordance with the duties of the Board of Supervisors as stipulated in the Law on
Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14 dated June 17, 2020, and the Charter on Organization and
Operation of Hapaco Group Joint Stock Company (the Group), the Board of Supervisors
hereby presents a summary report on its activities for submission to the 2025 Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders.

I. HOAT PONG CUA BAN KIEM SOAT NAM 2024
I. ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS IN 2024

1. Kiém soat viéc thue hién cac quy dinh ciia phap luit va Nghi quyét Pai hi dong cb
dong thuong nién nam 2024

1. Supervising the Compliance with Legal Regulations and the 2024 Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders’ Resolutions

Ban Kiém soat Tap doan da thuc hién cong tac kiém tra, giam sat viéc tuan thu cac quy
dinh cta Ludt Doanh nghiép, Luat Chiing khoan, Diéu 18 Té chuc va Hoat dong cua Téap doan
va Nghi quyét Dai hoi dong c6 dong thuong nién nam 2024.

The Board of Supervisors of the Group has conducted inspections and supervision to
ensure compliance with the provisions of the Law on Enterprises, the Law on Securities, the
Charter on Organization and Operation of the Group, and the resolutions of the 2024 Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders.

Kiém soat cong tac quan 1y, diéu hanh hoat dong san xuét, kinh doanh va dau tu cia
Hoi ddng quan tri, Ban Tong Giam dbc va cac cong ty thanh vién, dam bao phu hop véi quy
dinh cua phap luat va Diéu 1¢ T6 chirc va Hoat dong ctia Tap doan. Viéc thuc hién ké hoach



san xuét, kinh doanh va du tu dugc Hoi déng quan tri, Ban Téng Giam dbc, chi dao trién
khai quyét liét, két thiic naim 2024 Tap doan dat duoc mot s6 két qua co ban, cy thé:

Supervising the management, administration of production, business, and investment
activities of the Board of Directors, the Board of Management, and subsidiaries to ensure
compliance with legal regulations and the Group’s Charter on Organization and Operation.
The implementation of production, business, and investment plans was actively directed by
the Board of Directors and the Board of Management. By the end of 2024, the Group

achieved several key results, specifically:

. .. THU'C HIEN THUC HIEN SO SANH
o Acrons S| N | A
ACTUAL 2024 ACTUAL 2023 | COMPARISON (%)
1 | Tong san lwong san xuét Tan 35.505 28.967 123
Total production output Tons 35,505 28,967 123
. Gidy dé Tén 20.150 18.621 108
" | Base paper Tons 20,150 18,621 108
Trong d6 xuét khiu Cont 815 699 117
Of which exported Cont. 815 699 117
1.2 | Gidy Kraft Tén 13.796 8.753 157,6
Kraft paper Tons 13,796 8,753 157.6
1.3 | Gidy Tissue Tén 1.556 1.593 96,7
Tissue paper Tons 1,556 1,593 96.7
2 | Tong doanh thu Tri¢u 609.827 322.548 189
Total revenue dong 609,827 322,548 189
Million
VND
Trong d6 doanh thu XK USD | 8.610.051 7.754.096 111
Of which export revenue USD 8,610,051 7,754,096 111
3 | Tong lgi nhuan truéce thué | Trigu 105.065 21.632 485,7
Total profit before tax dong 105,065 21,632 485.7
Million
VND
4 | Nop ngan sach nha nuéc Tri¢u 20.828 16.799 123,9
Payment to the state budget| 3078 20,828 16,799 123.9
Million
VND

Vé chi tra ¢d tire: Nam 2024 Tap doan khong chi tra ¢ tirc.

Regarding dividend payments: In 2024, the Group did not distribute dividends.

V& tra thu lao Hoi déng quan tri, Ban Kiém soat: Tap doan da chi tra thu lao nam 2024
cho Hoi déng quan tri va Ban Kiém soat, theo ché do va phé duyét cua Pai hoi déng cd dong
thuong nién nam 2024, khong trich thuong phﬁn lo1 nhuan vuot Kké hoach.
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Regarding remuneration for the Board of Directors and the Board of Supervisors: The
Group paid remuneration for 2024 to the Board of Directors and the Board of Supervisors in
accordance with the policies and approvals of the 2024 Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders, without allocating bonuses from profits exceeding the plan.

Vé lua chon cong ty kiém toan doc lap: Hoi déng quan tri da lgya chon va ky két hop
ddng véi Cong ty TNHH Kiém toan BDO 1a cong ty kiém toan duoc Uy ban Chimg khoan
Nha nuéce chip thuan thuc hién kiém toan don vi c6 loi ich cong chung thudc linh vuc chimg
khoan nam 2024, dé thyc hién soat xét Bao cdo Tai chinh ban nién nam 2024 va kiém toan
Béo céo Tai chinh nam 2024 cua Tap doan.

Regarding the selection of an independent auditing firm: The Board of Directors
selected and signed a contract with BDO Audit Services Company Limited, an auditing firm
approved by the State Securities Commission to audit public interest entities in the securities
sector in 2024, to review the Group’s semi-annual financial statements for 2024 and audit the
annual financial statements for 2024.

2. Giam sat va tham dinh Béo cdo tai chinh
2. Supervision and Assessment of Financial Statements

Kiém tra, gidm sat hoat dong tai chinh ké toan cua Tap doan va cac cong ty thanh vién,
cac chinh sach va ché d¢ ké toan ap dung déu diung theo cac chuan muc ké todn va cac van
ban phap luat hién hanh.

Inspecting and monitoring the financial and accounting activities of the Group and its
subsidiaries, ensuring that the applied accounting policies and practices comply with
accounting standards and current legal regulations.

Ban Kiém soat da tham dinh Béo cdo tai chinh quy, nim ctia Tap doan va cc cong ty
thanh vién, duoc soat xét va kiém toan boi Cong ty TNHH Kiém toan BDO; giam sat viéc
thuc thi nhimg kién nghi ctua Kiém toan vién; théng nhat xac nhan bao céo tai chinh da phan
anh trung thuc, hop 1y trén cac khia canh trong yéu tinh hinh tai chinh cua Tap doan thoi
diém 31/12/2024, duogc trinh bay theo dung quy dinh, phu hop véi hé thdng ké toan, cac
chuan muyc ké toan Viét Nam va cac quy dinh hién hanh (cac phu luc bao cdo tai chinh kiém
toan duoc dinh kém cung bo tai liéu hop DPai hoi dong ¢6 dong thudng nién nim 2024).

The Board of Supervisors has assessed the quarterly and annual financial statements of
the Group and its subsidiaries, which were reviewed and audited by BDO Audit Services
Company Limited; monitored the implementation of the auditors' recommendations; and
confirmed that the financial statements fairly and accurately reflect, in all material respects,
the Group’s financial position as of December 31, 2024. The financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with regulations, the accounting system, Vietnamese Accounting
Standards, and prevailing regulations. (The audited financial statement appendices are
attached to the documents for the 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.)

3. Giam sat cong tac quan tri diéu hanh
3. Supervision of Governance and Management

Hoi déng quan tri da chi dao, gidm sat viéc diéu hanh san xuét, kinh doanh ciia Ban
Tong Giam doc, trén co s¢ tuan thu cac quy dinh, bam sat cadc muc ti€u, nhi€ém vu, ké hoach
bai hoi dong c6 dong thuong nién ndm 2024 da dé ra.

The Board of Directors has directed and supervised the management of the Board of

Management, ensuring compliance with regulations and adherence to the objectives, tasks,
and plans set forth by the 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.



Hoi dong quan tri di tién hanh cac phien hop dinh ky va dot suat dé trién khai thu’c hién
cac ndi dung Nghi quyet Pai hoi dong cb dong thudng nién nam 2024. Trong mot sd cude
hop mé rong, Hoi dong quan tri ¢6 moi cac thanh vién Ban Kiém soat ti du va tham gia
dong gop ¥ kién vao Vlec giai quyét, thao g& kip thoi nhitng khé khin, vudng mic va ton tai
trong hoat dong san xuat, kinh doanh va dau tu ca Tap doan.

The Board of Directors has held regular and extraordinary meetings to implement the
contents of the resolutions of the 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. In certain
extended meetings, the Board of Directors invited members of the Board of Supervisors to
attend and provide input to promptly resolve and remove difficulties, obstacles, and existing
issues in the Group’s production, business, and investment activities.

II. KE HOACH HOAT HOAT PONG CUA BAN KIEM SOAT NAM 2025
II. PLAN OF ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS FOR 2025

Trén co s& chuc nang, nhiém vy cua Ban Kiém soat duoc quy dinh tai Luat Doanh
nghiép _§6 59/2020/QH14 ngay 17/6/2020; va Pieu 1¢ To chuc va Hoat dong cua Tap doan.
Ban Kiém soat, xay dung ké hoach, xac dinh trong tam cong tdc nam 2024 nhu sau:

Based on the functions and duties of the Board of Supervisors as stipulated in the Law
on Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14 dated June 17, 2020, and the Charter of Organization and
Operation of the Group, the Board of Supervisors has developed its plan and identified key
focus areas for 2025 as follows:

Giam sat viéc tuan thu cac quy dinh cta Phap luat va Diéu 1& T chirc va Hoat dong
trong vi€c quan tri, di€u hanh Tap doan.

Monitor compliance with legal regulations and the Charter of Organization and
Operation in the governance and management of the Group.

Giam sat viéc thuc hién Nghi quyét Pai hoi dong c6 dong thudng nién nam 2025.

Supervise the implementation of the resolutions of the 2025 Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders.

Trién khai c6 hi¢u qua ké hoach kiém tra, giam sat cac cong ty thanh vién va hoi s&
Tap doan.

Effectively implement inspection and supervision plans for the Group’s subsidiaries
and headquarters.

Tham dinh bdo céo tai chinh ban nién va bdo céo tai chinh ndm 2025 cua Tap doan.
Assess the semi-annual and annual financial statements of the Group for 2025.

Céc cong viée khac theo yéu cau ciia C dong va Hoi ddng quan tri.

Other tasks as requested by shareholders and the Board of Directors.

III. KET LUAN VA KIEN NGHI

I1I. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Théng qua hoat dong kiém soat naim 2024, cho thy hoat dong san xuat, kinh doanh va
dau tu ciia Tap doan da dam bao an toan, tudn thu phap luat, ding dinh hudng va Nghi quyét
ctia Pai hoi ddng c6 dong thuong nién ndm 2024, dat hiéu qua kinh doanh. Hoi dong quan tri,
Ban Téng Giam dbc, da lanh dao tap thé can bo, cong nhan vién lao dong Tap doan, nd luc,
phan dau khong ngimg, mang lai gia tri gia ting cho Tap doan.

Through the supervision activities in 2024, it has been observed that the Group’s
production, business, and investment activities were conducted safely, in compliance with
legal regulations, aligned with the direction and resolutions of the 2024 Annual General
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Meeting of Shareholders, and achieved business efficiency. The Board of Directors and the
Board of Management have led the Group’s employees and workers in their continuous
efforts and dedication, generating added value for the Group.

Ban Kiém soat kién nghi Pai hoi dong c6 dong, Hoi déng quan tri va Ban Tong Giam
doc Tap doan, mot so van de sau:

The Board of Supervisors recommends the following matters to the General Meeting of
Shareholders, the Board of Directors, and the Board of Management of the Group:

Tiép tuc ra soat, danh gia lai hiéu qua san xuét, kinh doanh va dau tu tai cac cong ty
thanh vién hoat dong chua c6 hiéu qua va kém hi€u qua trong nam 2024, tir d6 c¢6 cac bién
phap hé tro, giai quyét thao gd kip thoi nhig kho khan, vudng mic, bt cap hodc tai cdu triic
lai dé nang cao hiéu qua hoat dong san xudt, kinh doanh va dau tu trong toan Tap doan.

Continue reviewing and reassessing the efficiency of production, business, and
investment activities in subsidiaries that were ineffective or underperforming in 2024. From
this, implement timely support measures to resolve difficulties, obstacles, and inefficiencies
or consider restructuring to enhance the overall efficiency of production, business, and
investment activities across the Group.

Tiép tuc diéu chinh hoan thién cac dinh murc kinh té k¥ thuét tién tién, phu hop, sat voi
thuc t€ va bién dong cua gia ca thi truong, dé lam can cur giam sat, ki€ém soat chi phi hoat
dong san xuat, kinh doanh va di€u chinh gid ban dé gia tang hi¢u qua.

Continue adjusting and perfecting advanced and appropriate technical-economic
standards that align with actual conditions and market price fluctuations, serving as a basis for
monitoring and controlling production and business operating costs, as well as adjusting
selling prices to enhance efficiency.

Tang cuong cong tac ké toan quan tri, ndng cao nang luc hoat dong cua kiém todn noi
bd Téap doan va h¢ thong kiém soat ndi bo tai cac cong ty thanh vién.

Strengthen management accounting and enhance the operational capacity of the
Group's internal audit and internal control systems within subsidiaries.

Ra soét tinh hinh quan 1y, st dung von clia cac cong ty thanh vién dé diéu tiét von hai
hoa, kip thot cho céc don vi trong toan Tap doan.

Review the management and utilization of capital in subsidiaries to regulate capital in a
harmonious and timely manner for entities within the entire Group.

DPay manh d6i méi sang tao, tich cuc chuyén ddi sé hoa cong tac quan tri, quan 1y, to
chtrc, didu hanh, kiém tra, giam sat; cai tién k¥ thuat, quy trinh céng nghé, phat huy toi da
cong sudt cua cac day chuyén, may, thiét bi; tiét giam chi phi; ning cao ning suit, chat lugng,
ha gia thanh san phém, dich vu; san xuit san phém moi gén xuc tién phat trién mo rong thi
truong, bao dam canh tranh.

Promote innovation and actively accelerate digital transformation in governance,
management, organization, operations, inspection, and supervision; improve techniques and
technological processes, maximize the capacity of production lines, machines and equipment;
reduce costs; improve productivity, quality, lower product and service prices; produce new
products associated with promoting market expansion and development, ensuring
competitiveness.

D¢ hoan thanh tot nhiém vy va phat huy hon nita vai trd ctia Ban Kiém soat trong nim
2025; Ban Kiém soat rat mong ti€p tuc nhan dugc sy ung hd cua quy c6 dong, Hoi dong quan
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tri, su hop tac va phdi hop ciia Ban Tong Giam ddc Tap doan, cic cong ty thanh vién va cac
bd phan nghiép vu trong toan Tap doan.

To successfully fulfill its duties and further enhance the role of the Board of
Supervisors in 2025, the Board sincerely hopes to continue receiving the support of esteemed
shareholders, the Board of Directors, and the cooperation and coordination of the Board of
Management, subsidiaries, and all functional departments across the Group.

Ban Kiém soat, kinh trinh Pai hoi dong c6 dong Cong ty C6 phan Tap doan HAPACO
xem xé&t phé chuén!

The Board of Supervisors respectfully submits this report to the General Meeting of
Shareholders of Hapaco Group Joint Stock Company for review and approval.

CONG TY CO PHAN TAP POAN HAPACO
HAPACO GROUP JOINT STOCK

COMPANY
Noi nhin/Recipients T/M. BAN KIEM SOAT
- HbQT, BTGD, BKS; ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF
- Board of Directors, Board of SUPERVISORS
Management, Board of
Supervisors;
- Quy C6 dong;
- Esteemed Shareholders;
- Luu HCNS,; TKHPQT; , A
- Archived at Administrative Pham Dirc Ph}en
and Human Resources, Pham Duc Phien
Secretariat of the Board of
Directors;



CONG TY CO PHAN CONG HOA XA HQI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM

TAP POAN HAPACO SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
HAPACO GROUP Poc lap - Tw do - Hanh phiic
JOINT STOCK Independence - Freedom - Happiness
COMPANY

Sb: 55/TTr-HAP Hai Phong, ngay 31 thang 3 nam 2025

No: 55/TTr-HAP Hai Phong, March 31, 2025
TO TRINH

THONG QUA BAO CAO TAI CHINH KIEM TOAN NAM 2024

PROPOSAL

FOR APPROVAL OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2024
(Trinh DPai hdi ddng cé dong thudng nién nim 2025)
(Submitted to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders)

- Can cit Ludt Doanh nghiép sé 59/2020/QH14 ngay 17/6/2020;

- Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14 dated June 17, 2020;

- Cdn cir Ludt Chitng khodn s6 54/2019/QH14 ngay 26/11/2019;

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 54/2019/QH 14 dated November 26, 2019;
- Cdn cir Diéu 1é Té chirc va Hoat dong ciia Cong ty Cé phan Tdp doan HAPACO;

- Pursuant to the Charter on Organization and Operation of Hapaco Group Joint
Stock Company;

Hoi dong quan tri Cong ty C6 phan Tap doan HAPACO (Tap doan), trinh Pai hoi dong
¢ dong thudng nién ndm 2025, vé viée thong qua Bao cdo tai chinh kiém toan nim 2024 cua
Tap doan, nhu sau:

The Board of Directors of Hapaco Group Joint Stock Company (the "Group") hereby
submits to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for approval of the Group’s
audited financial statements for 2024, as follows:

Céc Bao céo tai chinh kiém toan nim 2024 cua Tap doan di dugc Cong ty TNHH
BDO, tién hanh kiém toan theo ding chuin myc quy dinh, bao gém:

The audited financial statements for 2024 of the Group have been audited by BDO
Audit Services Company Limited in accordance with applicable standards and include the
following:

Béo c4o cta Ban Tong Giam doc;

Report of the Board of Management;

Béo céo kiém toan ddc lap;

Independent Auditor’s Report;



- Bang can dbi ké toan tai ngay 31/12/2024;

- Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2024;

- Bio céo két qua hoat dong kinh doanh nam 2024;
- Income Statement for 2024;

- Béo c4o luu chuyén tién té;

- Cash Flow Statement;

- Thuyét minh béo c4o tai chinh.

- Notes to the Financial Statements.

Hoi dong quan tri kinh trinh Pai hoi dong cb dong thong qua cac Bao céo tai chinh nim
2024 nhu néu trén da duogc kiém toan boi Cong ty TNHH Kiém toan BDO.

The Board of Directors respectfully submits to the General Meeting of Shareholders for
approval of the 2024 financial statements as mentioned above, which have been audited by
BDO Audit Services Company Limited.

Hoi dong quan tri Tap doan, kinh trinh Dai hoi dong c6 déng xem xét phé chuan!

The Board of Directors of the Group respectfully requests the General Meeting of
Shareholders to review and approve.

CONG TY CO PHAN TAP POAN HAPACO
HAPACO GROUP JOINT STOCK

Noi nhian/Recipients ACOMPANY ,

- HPQOT, BTGP, BKS; T/M. HOI BPONG QUAN TRI

- Board of Directors, Board of ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF
Management, Board of DIRECTORS
Supervisors,

- Quy Cé déng;

- Esteemed Shareholders;

- Luu HCNS; TCKT;

- Archived at Administrative -
Human Resources, Finance -
Accounting.



CONG TY CO PHAN CONG HOA XA HQI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM

TAP POAN HAPACO SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
HAPACO GROUP Péoc 1ap - Tw do - Hanh phic
JOINT STOCK Independence - Freedom - Happiness
COMPANY
S6: 56/TTr-HAP Hai Phong, ngay 31 thang 3 nam 2025
No: 56/TTr-HAP Hai Phong, March 31, 2025
TO TRINH

VE VIEC UY QUYEN CHO HOQI PONG QUAN TRI
LUA CHON CONG TY KIEM TOAN BAO CAO TAI CHiNH NAM 2025
PROPOSAL
ON AUTHORIZING THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
TO SELECT AN AUDIT FIRM FOR THE 2025 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Trinh Pai hdi ddng cé dong thwong nién nim 2025)
(Submitted to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders)

- Can cir Ludt Doanh nghiép sé 59/2020/QH14 ngay 17/6/2020;

- Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14 dated June 17, 2020;

- Can cir Ludt Chitng khodn s6 54/2019/QH14 ngay 26/11/2019;

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 54/2019/QH14 dated November 26, 2019;
- Can cir DPiéu 1¢ T6 chirc va Hoat dong ciia Cong ty C6 phan Téap doan HAPACO;

- Pursuant to the Charter on Organization and Operation of Hapaco Group Joint

Stock Company;,

Pé thuan loi cho viéc kiém toan bao céo tai chinh nam 2025 ctua Cong ty CO phan
Tap doan HAPACO (Tép doan). Hoi ddng quan tri Tap doan, trinh Pai hoi dong cd dong uy
quyén cho Hoi déng quan tri, Iya chon mét trong cac cong ty kiém toan trong danh sach cac
cong ty kiém toan duoc Uy ban Ching khoan Nha nude chip thudn thuc hién kiém toan don
vi ¢6 loi ich cong ching nam 2025 dé soat xét bao cao tai chinh ban nién 2025 va kiém toan

bao cdo tai chinh nam 2025 cta Tép doan theo quy dinh cta phap luat.

To facilitate the audit of the 2025 financial statements of Hapaco Group Joint Stock
Company (the Group), the Board of Directors of the Group submits to the 2025 Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders a proposal to authorize the Board of Directors to select one
of the audit firms from the list of firms approved by the State Securities Commission to audit

public interest entities in 2025. This firm will conduct a review of the semi-annual financial



statements for 2025 and audit the annual financial statements for 2025 in accordance with

legal regulations.
Hoi dong quan tri Tap doan, kinh trinh Pai hoi ddng c6 dong xem xét phé chuan!

The Board of Directors of the Group respectfully submits this proposal to the 2025

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for consideration and approval.

CONG TY CO PHAN TAP POAN HAPACO
HAPACO GROUP JOINT STOCK

Noi nhian/Recipients ACOMPANY ,

- HPOT, BTGP, BKS; T/M. HOI BPONG QUAN TRI

- Board of Directors, Board of ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF
Management, Board of DIRECTORS
Supervisors;

- Quy C6 dong;

- Esteemed Shareholders,

- Luu HCNS; TCKT;

- Archived at Administrative -
Human Resources, Finance and
Accounting



CONG TY CO PHAN CONG HOA XA HQI CHU NGHiA VIET NAM

TAP POAN HAPACO SOCTALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
HAPACO GROUP Péoc 1ap - Tw do - Hanh phic
JOINT STOCK Independence - Freedom - Happiness
COMPANY
Sb: 57/TTr-HAP Hai Phong, ngay 31 thang 3 nam 2025
No: 57/TTr-HAP Hai Phong, March 31, 2025
TO TRINH
VE VIEC THONG QUA PHUONG AN SU DUNG LQI NHUAN NAM 2024
PROPOSAL

ON APPROVAL OF THE PROFIT UTILIZATION PLAN FOR 2024
(Trinh Pai hdi ddng c6 dong thuong nién nim 2025)
(Submitted to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders)

- Can cir Ludt Doanh nghiép s6 59/2020/QH14 ngay 17/6/2020;

- Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14 dated June 17, 2020,

- Can cir Ludt Chitng khodn sé 54/2019/QH14 ngay 26/11/2019;

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 54/2019/QH14 dated November 26, 2019;
- Can cir Piéu 1é Té chire va Hoat ddng ciia Cong ty Co phan Tdp doan HAPACO;

- Pursuant to the Charter on Organization and Operation of Hapaco Group Joint

Stock Company;,

Hoi doéng quan tri Cong ty C6 phan Tap doan HAPACO (Tap doan), trinh Pai hoi
ddng c6 dong thong qua phuong an sir dung loi nhuan nim 2024, nhu sau:

The Board of Directors of Hapaco Group Joint Stock Company (the "Group") submits
to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for approval of the profit utilization
plan for 2024, as follows:

Loi nhuan sau thué chwa phan phdi lity ké dén ngay 31/12/2024 1a 139.999.043.428
déng duogc gitr lai dé tai dau tu cac du an déng thoi nang cao nang luc tai chinh cho cac
Cong ty thanh vién cta Tap doan, han ché cac rii ro thanh khoan cho doanh nghiép trong
nam 2025, gia tang loi ich cho cd dong. Phin ddu nim 2025 duoc chia ¢ tirc muc tir 6%
tro 1€n.

As of December 31, 2024, the accumulated retained earnings amount to
139,999,043,428 VND, which will be retained for reinvestment in projects, strengthening
the financial capacity of the Group's subsidiaries, mitigating liquidity risks for the
enterprise in 2025, and enhancing shareholder benefits. The goal is to distribute dividends
at a rate of at least 6% in 2025.



Hoi déng quan tri Tap doan, kinh trinh Pai hdi déng cd dong xem xét phé chuén!

The Board of Directors of the Group respectfully submits to the 2025 Annual General

Meeting of Shareholders for consideration and approval!

CONG TY CO PHAN TAP POAN HAPACO
HAPACO GROUP JOINT STOCK

Noi nhian/Recipients ACOMPANY )

- HPOT, BTGD, BKS; T/M. HOI BPONG QUAN TRI

- Board of Directors, Board of ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF
Management, Board of DIRECTORS
Supervisors,

- Quy C6 dong;

- Esteemed Shareholders,

- Luu HCNS; TCKT;

- Archived at Administrative -
Human Resources; Finance -
Accounting



CONG TY CO PHAN CONG HOA XA HQI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM

TAP POAN HAPACO SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
HAPACO GROUP Poc 1ap - Tu do - Hanh phuc
JOINT STOCK Independence - Freedom - Happiness
COMPANY
S6: 58/TTr-HAP Hai Phong, ngay 31 thing 3 nam 2025
No: 58/TTr-HAP Hai Phong, March 31, 2025
TO TRINH
VE THU LAO HQI PONG QUAN TRI VA BAN KIEM SOAT
PROPOSAL
ON REMUNERATION FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS

(Trinh Pai hdi ddng c6 dong thwdng nién nim 2025)
(Submitted to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders)

- Can cit Ludt Doanh nghiép sé 59/2020/QH14 ngay 17/6/2020;

- Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14 dated June 17, 2020;
- Can cit Ludt Chitng khodn s6 54/2019/QH14 ngay 26/11/2019;

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 54/2019/QH14 dated November 26, 2019,
- Can cit Piéu 18 Té chire va Hoat déng ciia Cong ty Co phan Téap doan HAPACO;

- Pursuant to the Charter on Organization and Operation of Hapaco Group Joint
Stock Company;

I. Bio cdo phu cip cho Hoi dong quan tri va Ban Kiém soat nim 2024

I. Report on allowances for the Board of Directors and the Board of Supervisors
in 2024

Trong nam 2024, Cong ty C6 phan Tap doan HAPACO (T4p doan) da thuc hién viéc
chi thu lao thanh vién Hoi dong quan trj (HPQT) va thanh vién Ban Kiém soat (BKS) theo
Nghi quyét s6 39/2024/NQ-DHCP ngay 20/4/2024 cta Dai hoi dong cd dong thuong nién
Cong ty C6 phan Tap doan HAPACO niam 2024.

In 2024, Hapaco Group Joint Stock Company (the Group) implemented the payment
of remuneration to the members of the Board of Directors (BOD) and the members of the
Board of Supervisors (BOS) in accordance with Resolution No. 39/2024/NQ-DHCD dated
April 20, 2024, of the 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Hapaco Group Joint
Stock Company.

II. Théng qua mirc phu cip cho HPQT va BKS nim 2025

II. Approval of Remuneration for the Board of Directors and the Board of
Supervisors in 2025

1. Cin ctr dé xac dinh mirc phu cip cho thanh vién HPQT va BKS

1. Basis for determining remuneration for members of the Board of Directors and
the Board of Supervisors:



-S4 luong thanh vién HPQT va BKS cua Tap doan;

- The number of members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Supervisors of
the Group;

- Dinh huéng hoat dong, ké hoach san xuét, kinh doanh va dau tu nim 2025;
- The operational direction, business, and investment plans for 2025;

- Tham khao mtrc phu cip ap dung cua dai da s6 cac doanh nghiép dai chung quy
mo twong tu hién nay trén thi truong;

- Reference to the allowances applied by the majority of similar-sized public
companies in the current market.

2. Dé xuit vé mirc phu cip binh quén déi véi HPQT va BKS nim 2025

2. Proposal for Average Allowances for the Board of Directors and the Board of
Supervisors in 2025:

- Thanh vién HDQT, binh quan dén: 8.000.000 dong/ngudi/thang.

- Members of the Board of Directors: average up to: 8,000,000 VND per person per
month.

- Thanh vién BKS, binh quéan dén: 6.000.000 dong/ngudi/thang.

- Members of the Board of Supervisors: average up to: 6,000,000 VND per person
per month.

- Néu phén d4u vuot muc trén 10% chi tiéu loi nhuan thi HDBQT va BKS duoc
thuong 10% trén 191 nhuan vugt mtrc ké hoach nam 2025.

- If the profit target is exceeded by more than 10%, the Board of Directors and the
Board of Supervisors will receive a bonus of 10% of the profit exceeding the 2025 plan.

- Muec phy cdp chi trd cho thanh vién HDQT va thanh vién BKS Ia trudc thué. Céc
thanh vién HDQT va BKS chiu trach nhi¢m khai bao va ngp thué thu nhap c4 nhan theo quy
dinh cua Phap luat.

- The allowances paid to members of the Board of Directors and the Board of
Supervisors are pre-tax. Members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Supervisors are
responsible for declaring and paying personal income tax in accordance with the law.

Hoi dong quan tri Tap doan, kinh trinh Dai hoi ddng ¢ dong xem xét phé chuén!

The Board of Directors respectfully submits to the General Meeting of Shareholders
for consideration and approval!

o CONG TY CO PHAN TAP POAN HAPACO
Noi nhan/Recipients HAPACO GROUP JOINT STOCK
- HPQT, BTGD, BKS; COMPANY

- Board of Directors, Board of A 5 ,
Management, Board of T/M. HOTDONG QUAN TRI

Supervisors; ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF
- Quy Co dong; DIRECTORS
- Esteemed Shareholders;

- Luu HCNS; TCKT,

- Archived at Administrative -
Human Resources,; Finance -
Accounting



CONG TY CO PHAN CONG HOA XA HOI CHU NGHIiA VIET NAM

TAP POAN HAPACO SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
HAPACO GROUP Péc lap - Tw do - Hanh phiic
JOINT STOCK Independence - Freedom - Happiness
COMPANY

Sb: 59/TTr-HAP Hdi Phong, ngay 31 thang 3 nam 2025

No: 59/TTr-HAP Hai Phong, March 31, 2025
TO TRINH

VE VIEC UY QUYEN QUYET PINH PAU TU

PROPOSAL

ON AUTHORIZATION FOR INVESTMENT DECISIONS
(Trinh Pai hdi dong c6 dong thwdng nién nim 2025)
(Submitted to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders)

- Can cir Ludt Doanh nghiép s6 59/2020/QH14 ngay 17/6/2020;

- Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14 dated June 17, 2020;

- Can cir Ludt Chitng khodn sé 54/2019/QH14 ngay 26/11/2019;

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 54/2019/QH14 dated November 26, 2019,
- Can cir Diéu 1é Té6 chirc va Hoat dong cua Cong ty Co phdn Tdp doan HAPACO;

- Pursuant to the Charter on Organization and Operation of Hapaco Group Joint
Stock Company,

Hoi dong quan tri Cong ty C6 phan Tap doan HAPACO (Tap doan), trinh Pai hoi
ddng c6 dong thong qua viée iy quyén cho Hoi dong quan tri quyét dinh viée dau tu va quyét
dinh cac dy 4n dau tu cia Tap doan.

The Board of Directors of Hapaco Group Joint Stock Company (the "Group") hereby
submits to the General Meeting of Shareholders for approval the authorization for the Board
of Directors to decide on investment matters and investment projects of the Group.

bpé gidm bdt cac thu tuc hanh chinh va chi phi hanh chinh, bao ddm thuan 1¢i cho viéc
trién khai cac chuong trinh dau tu va du an dAu tu coa Tap doan.

This aims to reduce administrative procedures and costs, ensuring the smooth
implementation of the Group's investment programs and projects.

Hoi dong quén tri trinh Pai hoi ddng c6 déng ty quyén cho Hoi dong quan tri quyét
dinh viéc Tap doan dau tu c6 gia tri bang hodc 16n hon 35% tong gia tri tai san dugc ghi
trong Bao c4o tai chinh gan nhit di duoc kiém toan cua Tap doan.

The Board of Directors submits to the General Meeting of Shareholders for
authorization to allow the Board of Directors to decide on the Group’s investments with a
value equal to or greater than 35% of the total asset value recorded in the most recent audited
financial statements of the Group.



Thoi han uy quyén: Tir ngay 31/3/2025 cho dén ngay t6 chic cude hop Dai hoi dong
¢ dong thuong nién nam 2026.

Authorization period: From March 31, 2025, until the date of the 2026 Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders.

Hoi dong quan tri Tap doan, kinh trinh Dai hoi ddng ¢ dong xem xét phé chuén!

The Board of Directors of the Group respectfully submits this proposal to the General

Meeting of Shareholders for consideration and approval!

CONG TY CO PHAN TAP POAN HAPACO
HAPACO GROUP JOINT STOCK

Noi nhin/Recipients COMPANY

- HDQT, BTGD, BKS; T/M. HOI BPONG QUAN TRI

- Board of Directors, Board of ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF
Management, Board of

Supervisors; DIRECTORS

- Quy C6 dong;

- Esteemed Shareholders,

- Luu HCNS; TCKT;

- Archived at Administrative -
Human Resources; Finance -
Accounting



CONG TY CO PHAN CONG HOA XA HQI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM

TAP POAN HAPACO SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
HAPACO GROUP Poc lap - Tw do - Hanh phic
JOINT STOCK Independence - Freedom - Happiness
COMPANY
S6: 60/TTr-HAP Hai Phong, ngay 31 thang 3 nam 2025
No: 60/TTr-HAP Hai Phong, March 31, 2025
TO TRINH
PROPOSAL

V/v: Mién nhiém va Phwong dn nhan sw bau bo sung thanh vién HPQT, BKS

Re: Dismissal and Personnel Plan for the Election of Additional Members of the
Board of Directors and the Board of Supervisors

Kinh trinh:  PAI HOI PONG CO PONG
Respectfully THE GENERAL MEETING
submitted to: OF SHAREHOLDERS

Can cit Ludt Doanh nghiép sé 59/2020/QH14 ngay 17/6/2020;
Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14 dated June 17, 2020;
Can civ Ludt Chitng khodn s6 54/2019/QH14 ngay 26/11/2019;

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 54/2019/QHI14 dated November 26,
2019;

- Can cik Diéu 16 T chirc va Hoat déng cua Céng ty Cé phan Tdp doan
HAPACO;

- Pursuant to the Charter on Organization and Operation of Hapaco Group
Joint Stock Company,

- Can cu don tr nhiém thanh vien HDQT cua ong Pham Cong Ngir

- Based on the resignation letter of Mr. Pham Cong Ngu, Member of the Board of
Directors,

- Can cw don tu nhiém thanh vién BKS cua ong Pham Duc Phién

- Based on the resignation letter of Mr. Pham Duc Phien, Member of the Board
of Supervisors.

I. Mién nhiém thanh vién Hi dong quén tri, thanh vién BKS do c6 don tir
nhiém

I. Dismissal of Members of the Board of Directors and the Board of
Supervisors Due to Resignation Letters

Hoi dong quan tri Cong ty cd phan Tap doan Hapaco trinh Pai hoi dong cb dong
thong qua:

The Board of Directors of Hapaco Group Joint Stock Company submits to the
General Meeting of Shareholders for approval:

1



- Mién nhiém thanh vién HPQT ddc lap ddi véi Ong Pham Cong Ngir do c¢6 don
tir nhiém.

- Dismissal of the Independent Director, Mr. Pham Cong Ngu, due to his
resignation letter.

- Mién nhiém Trudng Ban kiém soat d6i véi Ong Pham Pirc Phién do co don tir
nhiém.

- Dismissal of the Chief of the Board of Supervisors, Mr. Pham Duc Phien, due to
his resignation letter.

- Viéc nhiém nhiém nay c6 hiéu luc ké tir ngdy Dai hoi dong c6 dong thong qua.

- This dismissal shall take effect from the date the General Meeting of
Shareholders approves it.

IL. Phuwong an nhan su bau bd sung thanh vién HPQT déc lap

I1. Personnel Plan for the Election of Additional Independent Directors

Pé dam bao diéu kién vé quan tri cong ty niém yét theo quy dinh ctia Phap luat va
Piéu 1¢ Cong ty,

To ensure compliance with corporate governance requirements for a listed

company as stipulated by law and the Company’s Charter,

Hoi déng quan tri kinh trinh Pai hoi déng ) dong thong qua cac ndi dung lién
quan dén viéc bau bo sung thanh vién HPQT ddc lap cho thdi gian con lai ciia nhiém
ky 2021-2026, nhu sau:

the Board of Directors respectfully submits to the General Meeting of
Shareholders for approval the following matters regarding the election of an
additional Independent Director for the remainder of the 2021-2026 term:

1. S6 lwong bo sung thanh vién HPQT doc lap: 01 (mot) thanh vién
1. Number of Additional Independent Directors: 01 (one) member.

2. Bén thoi diém 17h00 ngay 28/3/2025, HDQT khong nhan duoc don tmg ctr, dé
ctr bau bo sung thanh bién HPQT doc 1ap nao. HDQT gidi thiéu dé trinh Pai hoi dong
) dong thuong nién ndm 2024 danh sach 01 Gng cir vién dé Pai hoi bau, g@)m:

2. As of 17:00 on March 28, 2025, the Board of Directors has not received any
applications or nominations for the election of an additional Independent Director.
The Board of Directors hereby nominates the following candidate for election at the
2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders:

(1) Ba Lé Thi Mai Anh — Sinh ndm 1982 — Thac si Kinh té thuong mai

(1) Ms. Le Thi Mai Anh — Year of birth: 1982 — Master of Commerce and
Economics

(So yéu 1y lich tém tat dinh kem)

(A brief curriculum vitae is attached.)

II1. Phwong 4n nhan sy bau bd sung thanh vién Ban kiém soat
2



I11. Personnel Plan for the Election of an Additional Member of the Board of
Supervisors

Pé dam bao diéu kién vé quan tri cong ty niém yét theo quy dinh ctia Phap luat va
biéu 1¢ Cong ty,

To ensure compliance with corporate governance requirements for a listed
company as stipulated by law and the Company’s Charter,

Hoi dong quan tri kinh trinh Pai hoi dong c6 dong thong qua cac noi dung lién
quan dén viéc bau bd sung thanh vién Ban kiém soat cho thoi gian con lai cia nhiém
ky 2021-2026, nhu sau:

the Board of Directors respectfully submits to the General Meeting of
Shareholders for approval the following matters regarding the election of an
additional member of the Board of Supervisors for the remainder of the 2021-2026
term:

1. S6 luong b sung thanh vién BKS: 01 (mét) thanh vién

1. Number of Additional Board of Supervisors Members: 01 (one) member.

2. Pén thoi diém 17h00 ngay 28/3/2025, HDQT khong nhan dugc don mg cir, dé
ctr bau bd sung thanh bién BKS nao. HDQT gi6i thiéu dé trinh Pai hoi dong cd dong
thudng nién nam 2025 danh sach 01 Gmg cir vién dé Pai hoi bau, gom:

2. As of 17:00 on March 28, 2025, the Board of Directors has not received any
applications or nominations for the election of an additional member of the Board of

Supervisors. The Board of Directors hereby presents the following list of one
candidate to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for election:

(1) Ba Nguyén Thi Thanh Thiao — Sinh ndm 2001 — Cir nhan Ké toan
(1) Ms. Nguyen Thi Thanh Thao — Year of birth: 2001 — Bachelor of Accounting

(So yéu 1y lich tém tat dinh kem)
(A brief curriculum vitae is attached.)
Hoi dong quan tri kinh trinh Dai hoi dong ¢ déng xem xét thong qua!

The Board of Directors respectfully submits this matter to the General Meeting of
Shareholders for consideration and approval!

CONG TY CO PHAN TAP POAN HAPACO
HAPACO GROUP JOINT STOCK

Noi nhian/Recipients

- HPQOT, BTGP, BKS}d/b; ACOMPANY q

;\foard ofDirlL;ctor;; Board of T/M. HOI DONG QUAN TRI
S ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF
- Quy C6 dongjt/b; DIRECTORS

- Esteemed Shareholders}t/b;

- Luu HCNS; TCKT;

- Archived at Administrative - Human
Resources; Finance - Accounting



CONG TY CO PHAN CONG HOA XA HQOI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM

TAP POAN HAPACO SOCITALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
HAPACO GROUP Poc lap - Tw do - Hanh phuc
JOINT STOCK Independence - Freedom - Happiness
COMPANY
S6: 61/QC-HAP Hai Phong, ngay 31 thang 3 nam 2025
No.: 61/QC-HAP Hai Phong, March 31, 2025
QUY CHE BAU CU
BO SUNG THANH VIEN HPQT PQC LAP; THANH VIEN BKS
REGULATIONS

ON ADDITIONAL ELECTION OF AN INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR AND A
MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

(Nhiém ky 2021 - 2026)
(Term 2021 - 2026)
- Can cir Ludt Doanh nghiép s6 59/2020/QH14 ngay 17/06/2020;
- Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14 dated June 17, 2020;
- Can cir Ludt Chirng khodn sé 54/2019/QH14 ngay 26/11/2019;
- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 54/2019/QH 14 dated November 26, 2019;

- Can cir Nghi dinh s6 155/2020/ND-CP ngay 31/12/2020 quy dinh chi tiét thi hanh
mot so diéu cua Ludt chung khodn;

- Pursuant to Decree No. 155/2020/ND-CP dated December 31, 2020, detailing the
implementation of a number of articles of the Law on Securities,

- Can cir Diéu 16 té chire va hoat déng Cong ty c6 phan Tap doan Hapaco;

- Pursuant to the Charter on Organization and Operation of Hapaco Group Joint Stock
Company;

Dai hoi dong cérdéng thuong nién nam 2025 cua Cong ty C6 phan Tap doan
HAPACO (Tép doan) tién hanh bau bo sung thanh vién hoi dong quan tri doc l1ap, thanh
vién BKS nhiém ky 2021 - 2026 theo cac ndi dung dudi day:

The 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Hapaco Group Joint Stock
Company (the Group) shall conduct the additional election of an Independent Director and a
member of the Board of Supervisors for the 2021 - 2026 term according to the following
provisions:

Piéu 1. Poi twong dwge thue hién quyén bau cir
Article 1. Eligible Voters

Cb dong so hiru co phan co quyen biéu quyét hoic dai dién theo uy quyén cta c6 dong
so hitu ¢6 phan c6 quyén biéu quyét c6 mit tai Pai hoi dong cd dong thudng nién nam 2025.

Shareholders holding voting shares or authorized representatives of shareholders
holding voting shares who are present at the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.



Piéu 2. Nhiém ky, s6 lwong thanh vién hdi ddong quan tri dwgce bau bd sung
Article 2. Term and Number of Additional Members to be Elected

- Nhiém ky cta hoi ddng quan tri 13 2021- 2026;

- The term of the Board of Directors is 2021 - 2026;

-S4 luong thanh vién hoi dong quan tri doc 1ap duogc bau 1a 01 (mot) thanh vién;
- The number of Independent Directors to be elected: 01 (one) member;

-S4 luong thanh vién ban kiém soat duoc bau 1a 01 (mot) thanh vién;

- The number of Board of Supervisors members to be elected: 01 (one) member;

-S4 luong thanh vién trong danh sach bau c6 thé bang hodc nhiéu hon s thanh vién
duoc bau;

- The number of candidates on the election list may be equal to or greater than the
number of members to be elected.

- Thanh vién hoi dong quan tri doc 1ap; BKS c6 thé dugc bau lai voi sO nhiém ky
khong han ché;

- Independent Directors and members of the Board of Supervisors may be re-elected
for an unlimited number of terms.

Piéu 3. Hinh thirc, phwong thirc bau cir va nguyén tic bau don phiéu
Article 3. Voting Method, Procedures, and Cumulative Voting Principles
3.1. Hinh thirc bau cir

3.1. Voting Method

Viéc bau ctr thanh vién hoi déng quan tri doc 1ap. Thanh vién BKS cua Téap doan s€
duogc thuc hién theo hinh thue truc ti€p, bo phicu kin tai dai hoi;

The election of the Independent Director and Board of Supervisors member of the
Group shall be conducted directly through a secret ballot at the General Meeting.

3.2. Phuong thirc biu cir, nguyén tic biu don phiéu
3.2. Voting Procedures and Cumulative Voting Principles

- Vige bau cir phai thuc hién theo phuong thirc bau don phleu theo do m01 cd dong
co tong s6 phiéu bleu quyet twong ng voi tong sb cd phan ¢ quyén biéu quyet (bao gom
¢ phan s hitu va ¢d phan dugc Gy quyén) nhan véi sé thanh vién duge bau (1a 01 thanh
vién);

- The election shall be conducted using the cumulative voting method. Accordingly,
each shareholder shall have a total number of votes equal to the total number of shares with
voting rights (including owned and authorized shares) multiplied by the number of members
to be elected (01 member).

- C0 dong co thé don hét tong so phicu bicu quyét cho mot hoac mot so ting cur vién;

- Shareholders may allocate all of their votes to one or multiple candidates.



- Cach ghi phiéu bu theo hinh thirc don phiéu: Theo huéng din quy dinh tai phy luc
dinh kém theo Quy ché nay;

- How to Fill in the Ballot Using the Cumulative Voting Method: As guided in the
appendix attached to this Regulation.

Piéu 4. T chirc va giam st biu cir
Article 4. Election Organization and Supervision

Viéc t6 chirc va giam sat bau cir duoc Ban Kiém phiéu thay mat cho Dai hoi déng )
d6ng thuc hién theo dung cac quy dinh tai quy ché nay.

The election shall be organized and supervised by the Vote Counting Committee on
behalf of the General Meeting of Shareholders in accordance with the provisions of this
Regulation.

Piéu 5. Ban Kiém phiéu

Article 5. Vote Counting Committee
5.1. Ban Kiém phiéu

5.1. Vote Counting Committee

- Ban Kiém phiéu do Chu tich doan d& cir va dwoc Pai hoi ddng c6 dong thong qua.
Thanh vién Ban kiém phiéu c6 thé khong phai 1a ¢6 dong. Thanh vién Ban kiém phiéu khong
phai 4 nguoi 6 tén trong danh sach tng ctr va/hodc dé ctr vao hoi dong quan tri;

- The Vote Counting Committee shall be nominated by the Presidium and approved
by the General Meeting of Shareholders. Members of the Vote Counting Committee may not
necessarily be shareholders. Members of the Vote Counting Committee shall not be
individuals listed as candidates and/or nominees for the Board of Directors.

- Ban Kiém phiu cir mdt nguoi lam Trudng ban dé chu tri viéc t6 chire bau cu;

- The Vote Counting Committee shall appoint one member as the Head of the
Committee to preside over the organization of the election;

5.2. Nhiém vu ciia Ban Kiém phiéu
5.2. Duties of the Vote Counting Committee

- Ban Kiém phiéu phai bado dam tinh chinh tryc, khach quan, bao mat thong tin vé
viéc kiém phi€u va bau ctr. Ban Kiém phi€u c6 nhi¢m vu:

- The Vote Counting Committee must ensure integrity, objectivity, and
confidentiality in the vote counting and election process. The committee is responsible for:

+ Kiém tra va cong bd danh sach cic tmg vién;
+ Verifying and announcing the list of candidates;

+ Pho bién quy ché bau ctr va hudng dan cach thuc bau ctr cho ¢6 dong;



+ Communicating the election regulations and guiding shareholders on the voting
methods;

+ Kiém tra, giam sat viéc bo phiéu cua cac ¢d dong, dai dién ) dong;

+ Inspecting and supervising the voting process of shareholders, their representatives;
+ Phat va thu phiéu bau;

+ Distributing and collecting ballots;

+ Thyc hién kiém phiéu, 1ap bién ban kiém phiéu, cong bd két qua kiém phiéu trudc
Pai hoi déng cd dong;

+ Counting votes, preparing the vote-counting minutes, and announcing the results
before the General Meeting of Shareholders.

+ Cung Chu tich doan xem xét va giai quyét khi€u nai, to6 cdo v€ nguoi ung cur cling
nhu vé két qua bau ctr (néu cd) va bdo cao dé€ Pai hdi dong c6 dong quyét dinh;

+ Reviewing and resolving complaints and accusations regarding candidates and
election results (if any) together with the Presidium, and reporting to the General Meeting of
Shareholders for a decision;

+ Va cac nhiém vu lién quan khéc;
+ Other related duties;

- Ban Kiém phiéu phai chiu hoan toan trach nhiém trude phap luat va Dai hoi dong
c6 dong ve viéc tuan thu Quy ché nay va veé tinh chinh xéac cua két qua kiém phiéu.

-The Vote Counting Committee shall bear full responsibility before the law and the
General Meeting of Shareholders for compliance with this Regulation and the accuracy of the
vote counting results.

Diéu 6. Phiéu bau cir

Article 6. Election Ballot

6.1. Danh sach wng cir vién hdi dong quan tri

6.1. List of Candidates for the Board of Directors

Pugc sip xép theo thir tw ABC theo tén, ghi day dii ho va tén trén phiéu bau;

The list is arranged in alphabetical order by name, with the full name written on the
ballot;

6.2. Phiéu bau cir
6.2. Election Ballot

- Phiéu bau do Tap doan phat hanh, c6 diu treo ciia Tap doan, ma s6 ¢ dong va sb
cd phan s& hiru/dai dién c6 quyén bi€u quyet va tong s6 quyén biéu quyet ma ho dai dién
tuong ung. C6 doéng hodc dai dién cd dong khi dugc phat phiéu bau phai kiém tra lai cac



thong tin ghi trén phiéu bau, néu c6 sai sot phai théng bao ngay cho Ban Kiém phiéu dé xem
xét diéu chinh;

- The ballot is issued by the Group, bears the seal on the organization name, and
includes the shareholder's identification number, the number of shares owned/represented
with voting rights, and the total corresponding voting rights they represent. Shareholders or
their representatives must verify the information on the ballot upon receipt. If any errors are
found, they must immediately notify the Vote Counting Committee for review and correction.

- €6 dong hodc dai dién uy quyén cua cd dong du hop s& dugc phat 01 (mot) phiéu
bau thanh vién hoi dong quan doc 1ap tri, 01 (mot) phiéu bau thanh vién BKS theo mi sd
tham du (s¢ hitu va dwoc 1ty quyén);

- Shareholders or authorized representatives attending the meeting shall receive one
(01) ballot for electing an Independent Director and one (01) ballot for electing a member of
the Board of Supervisors, based on their attendance identification number (owned and
authorized shares).

6.3. Cach ghi phiéu bau cir

6.3. How to Fill Out the Election Ballot

- Khi ddng y bau cho ng ctr vién nao, cd dong viét sb phiéu mudn bau vao cot «
S6 phiéu bau” tai dong tuong ing vdi tén trng cu vién do;

- If a shareholder agrees to vote for a candidate, they must write the number of
votes they wish to allocate in the "Number of Votes" column corresponding to the
candidate's name.

- Néu khong bau cho tng cir vién nao, c6 dong gach chéo “ X vao cot “ S6 phiéu
bau” tai dong tuong ing véi tén g cu vién do (hoac dé trong);

- If a shareholder does not wish to vote for a candidate, they must either cross out
("X") the "Number of Votes" column in the corresponding row or leave it blank.

- Co6 dong/dai dién theo uy quyén cua c6 dong du hop c6 thé don phiéu bau cho
mot hodc mot s6 ing cu vién, bau du cho tat ca s6 ung ctr vién dugc bau (01 ing cu vién
hodc khong bau cho tng ctr vién nao (phicu trang);

- A shareholder or an authorized representative attending the meeting may allocate
votes to one or multiple candidates, distribute votes among all candidates to be elected (01
candidate), or choose not to vote for any candidate (blank ballot).

- Tong so phiéu bau cho ung ctr vién ctia mot cd6 dong khong dugce vugt qué tong soé
phiéu bau dugc phép ctia ¢6 dong d6 (= s6 c6 phan x so thanh vién dugc bau);

- The total number of votes for a candidate by a shareholder must not exceed the
total number of votes the shareholder is entitled to (= number of shares x number of
members to be elected);

- Trudng hop ghi sai, cd déng dé nghi Ban kiém phiéu doi phiéu bau khac;

- In case of an error, the shareholder may request the Vote Counting Committee to
change the ballot;



- C6 dong phai ty minh ghl s6 quyén biéu quyét bau cho tung ung cu vién Vao 0
trong cua Ung cu vién do tren phleu bau. Trong trLrO'ng hop uy quyén hop 18 (c6 gidy uy
quyén), nguoi duge ty quyén cé day du quyén biéu quyét;

- Shareholders must personally fill in the number of voting rights allocated to each
candidate in the corresponding blank space of that candidate on the ballot. In the case of
valid authorization (with a power of attorney), the authorized representative has full voting
rights.

6.4. Tinh hop 1¢ ciia phiéu bau cir
6.4. Validity of the Ballots

Phiéu bau dugc coi 1 hop 18 khi tuan thi cac quy dinh tai Quy ché nay va khong vi
pham mot trong cac 16i sau:

A ballot is considered valid if it complies with the regulations set forth in this
Regulation and does not contain any of the following errors:

- Phiéu khong phai 1a phiéu do Ban t6 chirc Pai hoi phat hanh.
- The ballot is not issued by the Organizing Committee of the General Meeting.

- Phiéu gach xo4, sira chira, ghi thém hodc ghi tén khong dung, khong thudc danh
sach tmg ctr vién da dugc Dai hoi dong c6 dong thong nhat thong qua trude khi tién hanh
b6 phiéu;

- Ballots are crossed out, corrected, added or have incorrect names, or names that
do not belong to the list of candidates previously approved by the General Meeting of
Shareholders before the voting begins.

- Phiéu c6 tong s6 quyén bi€u quyét cho nhitng ting ctr vién vugt qua tong sO quyen
bi€u quyét cua c6 dong do s¢ hitu/dugce Gy quyen;

- A ballot where the total number of voting rights allocated to the candidates
exceeds the total number of voting rights held or authorized by the shareholder

- Phiéu ndp sau khi Ban Kiém phiéu da két thuc viéc thu phiéu bau cr;

- Ballots are submitted after the Vote Counting Committee has completed the
collection of ballots.

- Céc phiéu khong khong hop 18, phiéu tring s& khong duogc tinh vao két qua bau
cu;

- Invalid ballots and blank ballots will not be counted in the election results.
Piéu 7. B6 phiéu va kiém phiéu
Article 7. Voting and Vote Counting

- Céac c6 dong bo phiéu chi bo phiéu vao hom phiéu da dugc niém phong do Ban
Kiém phiéu quy dinh va gidm sat. Viéc bd phicéu két thuc sau khi cd6 dong cudi cung da bo
phicéu vao hom phiéu va Ban kiém phiéu cong bo két thuc vi¢e bd phicu;



- Shareholders must place their ballots into the sealed ballot box as prescribed and
supervised by the Vote Counting Committee. Voting will conclude once the last
shareholder has cast their ballot into the ballot box and the Vote Counting Committee
announces the end of the voting process.

- Viéc kiém phiéu phai dugc tién hanh ngay sau khi viéc bo phiéu két thuc;
- Vote counting must begin immediately after the voting process concludes.

- Két qua kiém phiéu duoc 1ap thanh vin ban va dugce Trudng Ban kiém phiéu cong
bd trude dai hoi;

- The results of the vote count will be documented in writing and announced to the
General Meeting by the Head of the Vote Counting Committee.

Picu 8. Nguyén tic xac dinh két qua bau cir
Article 8. Principles for Determining Election Results

- Ngudi tring cir phai dat trén 50% s phiéu du dai hoi tro 1én va dugc xac dinh
theo sO phic€u bau tinh tir cao xudng thap.

- The elected candidate must receive more than 50% of the votes at the General
Meeting and will be determined based on the number of votes, ranked from highest to
lowest.

- Trudng hop c6 tur hai ing ctr vién tré 1én dat cung s6 phi€u bau nhu nhau thi s€
tién hanh bau lai (hoac bi€u quyét) trong s6 cac ing ctr vién c6 s6 phi€u bau ngang nhau;

- In the event that two or more candidates receive the same number of votes, a re-
election (or vote) will be held among those candidates with the equal vote count.

Piéu 9. Lap va cong bd Bién ban kiém phiéu
Article 9. Preparation and Announcement of the Vote Counting Minutes

- Sau khi kiém phiéu, Ban kiém phiéu phai lap bién ban kiém phiéu. Noi dung bién
ban kiém phiéu bao gdm: Tong sb ¢ dong tham gia du hop, tong sé ¢ phan tham du hop,
tuong 1'J:ng Vi ty 18 % von diéu 1&. Tong sd c6 dong tham gia bo phiéu tuong ung Vé‘i s6 ¢b
phan/so phiéu biéu quyét tham gia bo phleu (theo phuong thire bau don phiéu), s va ty 16
phiéu hop 1¢, phiéu khong hop 18, phiéu tring; sb va ti 1¢ phiéu bau cho timg tng cir vién;

- After counting the votes, the Vote Counting Committee must prepare the vote
counting minutes. The minutes must include: the total number of shareholders attending the
meeting, the total number of shares attending the meeting, corresponding to the percentage
of charter capital; the total number of shareholders who cast their votes, corresponding to
the number of shares/voting rights participating in the voting (using the cumulative voting
method); the number and percentage of valid votes, invalid votes, and blank ballots; the
number and percentage of votes for each candidate.

- Toan van Bién ban kiém phiéu phai dugc cong bo trudc dai hoi;

- The full text of the vote counting minutes must be announced before the General
Meeting.

Piéu 10. Khiéu nai



Article 10. Complaints

- Néu xét thdy co6 nhitng hanh vi gian dbi hodc vi pham Piéu 1é cong ty c6 lién quan
dén cudc bau cu nay, moi ) dong/dai dién ) dong déu co quyén chit vAn. Chu tich doan,
Ban Kiém phiéu c6 trach nhiém giai trinh va lam rd moi van dé chit van cua c6 dong va
phai chiu trach nhiém trudc Dai hoi ddng cb dong;

- If any fraudulent actions or violations of the company’s charter related to this
election are found, any shareholder/representative of a shareholder has the right to question.
The Presidium and the Vote Counting Committee are responsible for explaining and
clarifying all shareholder questions and must be accountable to the General Meeting of
Shareholders.

- Nhitng khiéu nai vé viéc bau va kiém phiéu s& do Chu toa cudc hop giai quyét va
dugc ghi vao bién ban cudc hop Pai hoi dong c6 dong;
- Complaints regarding the election and vote counting will be addressed by the

meeting's Chairman and will be recorded in the minutes of the General Meeting of
Shareholders.

Quy ché nay gém ¢6 10 diéu va duoge doc cong khai trude Dai hoi déng cd dong dé
biéu quyét thong qua.

This regulation consists of 10 articles and will be publicly read at the General Meeting
of Shareholders for approval.

CONG TY CO PHAN TAP POAN HAPACO
HAPACO GROUP JOINT STOCK

Noi nhan/Recipients ACOMPANY ,
- HPQT, BTGP, BKS; T/M. HOI BPONG QUAN TRI
- Board of Directors, Board of ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF
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Supervisors;
- Quy Cé déng;
- Esteemed Shareholders;
- Luu HCNS; TKHDQT;
- Archived at Administrative and
Human Resources; Secretariat of
the Board of Directors,
CHU TICH HPQT
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
TS. Vii Dwong Hién
Dr. Vu Duong Hien



PHU LUC: HUONG DAN BAU DON PHIEU
APPENDIX: CUMULATIVE VOTING GUIDELINES

- Gia st Dai hoi dong cd dong biéu quyét chon 01 thanh vién hoi dong quén tri (hodc
01 thanh vién BKS) trong tong s6 01 (mg vién dé tham gia bau tai Pai hoi. SO thanh vién

tham gia bau nhu sau:

- Suppose the General Meeting of Shareholders votes to elect one member of the
Board of Directors (or one member of the Board of Supervisors) from a total of one
candidate to participate in the election at the meeting. The number of members participating

in the election is as follows:

STT Ho va tén S6 phiéu bau
No. Full Name Number of Votes

1 Pham Van A
Pham Van A

- C6 ddéng Nguyén Vin X nam gitt (bao gom so hitu va dwoe ity quyén) 100.000 cd
phan c6 quyén biéu quyét. Khi d6 tong s6 phiéu biéu quyét ciia cd6 dong Nguyén Vin X la:

- Shareholder Nguyen Van X holds (including ownership and authorized shares)
100,000 voting shares. Therefore, the total number of voting rights of shareholder Nguyen
Van X is:

100.000 CP x 1 (1a s6 lwong thanh vién dwgc bau) = 100.000 phiéu biéu quyét.
100,000 shares x 1 (number of members to be elected) = 100,000 votes.

Co6 dong Nguyén Vin X c6 thé bau don phiéu theo phwong thirc sau:
Shareholder Nguyen Van X can allocate the 100,000 votes as follows:

1. D6n hét 100.000 phiéu biéu quyét ciia minh cho 01 éng ctr vién Pham Vin A lam
thanh vién hoi dong quan tri (hodc Thanh vién BKS).

1. Allocate all 100,000 of their votes to Pham Van A to become a member of the

Board of Directors (or a member of the Board of Supervisors).

Vi du:



Example:

STT Ho va tén S6 phiéu bau
No. Full Name Number of Votes
1 Pham Van A 100.000
Pham Van A 100,000

2. Hodc chia nhd mot phan trong 100.000 phiéu biéu quyét cho tmg ctr vién.

2. Alternatively, distribute a portion of the 100,000 votes among candidates.

Vi du:
Example:
STT Ho va tén S6 phiéu bau
No. Full Name Number of Votes
1 Pham Van A 50.000
Pham Van A 50,000

Phiéu bau ciia c6 dong Nguyén Vin X sé khong hop 1é trong cac trudng hop sau:
The vote of shareholder Nguyen Van X will be invalid in the following cases:

- Phiéu khong phai 1a phiéu do Ban t6 chirc Pai hoi phat hanh.
- The ballot is not issued by the Organizing Committee of the General Meeting.

- Phiéu gach xo4, stra chita, ghi thém tén khong thudc danh sach tng ctr vién da
duogc Pai hdi dong c6 dong thong nhat thong qua trudce khi tién hanh bo phiéu;

- The vote contains any erasures, corrections, or additional names not on the list of
candidates approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders before the voting process.

- Phicu c6 tong s6 quyen biéu quyet cho ung ctr vién vugt qua tong sO quyén bicu
quyét ctia co dong do s¢ hiru/dugce iy quyén;

- The ballot with a total number of voting rights for the candidate exceeding the
total number of voting rights owned/authorized by that shareholder.

- Phiéu ndp sau khi Ban Kiém phiéu da két thic viéc thu phiéu bau ctr;

- The ballot is submitted after the Vote Counting Committee has finished collecting
ballots.
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